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The Australian Grand Prix Corporation acknowledges the Bunurong People, the Traditional Custodians 
of the land and waterways that we work and race on. We pay our respects to Elders, past and 
present.

As visitors on Bunurong Country, we listen with intent and practice gratitude for their knowledge of 
sustainability and culture as part of our journey. We celebrate their stories in our stories.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
OF COUNTRY 
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In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Australian 
Grand Prix Corporation’s Annual Report for the year ending 30 June 2024. 

Hon. Martin Pakula
Chairman
Australian Grand Prix Corporation
18 October 2024

RESPONSIBLE BODY’S 
DECLARATION
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The Australian Grand Prix Corporation (AGPC) has continued on a path of growth, innovation and 
success over the past 12 months, cementing the organisation’s position as a leader in the delivery of 
international major events. 

With both the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix and the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix, AGPC’s 
events make substantial contributions to Victoria’s visitor economy, boosting tourism, hotel occupancy 
and visitor spend. 

The MotoGP™ Guru by Gryfyn Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 2023 brought a dramatic weekend 
of racing to the Phillip Island Grand Prix Circuit, where the main MotoGP™ race was brought forward 
to Saturday to avoid the high winds and rain forecast for the Sunday. Australian Moto3™ rider Joel 
Kelso achieved his first ever podium in the category with a third-place finish.

A highlight was the Homecoming Ride on Wednesday before the race weekend, with MotoGP™ fan 
favourite Marc Marquez joining rising star Pedro Acosta and Joel Kelso with over 400 avid fans for a 
ride from San Remo to the Circuit. 

The FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024 was once again a record-breaking occasion, 
with an estimated attendance of 452,055 over four days, the highest in Melbourne’s history. 

The Albert Park Grand Prix circuit delivered a thrilling experience with Formula 1® supported by 
Formula 2®, Formula 3®, Supercars and the Porsche Carrera Cup. 

Beyond the racing, the event offered the very best in Australian music, food, hospitality and 
entertainment. A significant development for 2024 was the reimagined family zone as part of a multi-
year partnership with Warner Bros. 

Attracting international and interstate visitors, the event garnered widespread attention and 
recognition for Victoria, with research confirming that the vast majority of visitors who attend the 
Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix are likely to return to Melbourne.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
The Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix and the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix are large-scale, 
international events which focus the eyes of the world on Victoria. Delivering these events to a high 
standard each year takes the efforts of a wide group of individuals, stakeholders, suppliers and 
partners.

I have now chaired AGPC for a full cycle and have thoroughly enjoyed working alongside the Board 
and the wider AGPC team. Without a dedicated group working behind the scenes, these events 
would not be the world-class spectacles that they are. 

I would particularly like to thank all AGPC staff. It is with their dedication, commitment and teamwork 
that we have been able to deliver another successful year.

I would like to acknowledge the dedicated members of the AGPC Board, including continuing 
directors, Kimberley Brown, Mick Doohan AM, Nicki Kenyon, Paul Lappin, John O’Rourke and Mark 
Webber AO. The significant expertise provided by the Board’s leadership, along with the time and 
dedication committed to both events and the organisation more generally, is of huge benefit to 
AGPC.

I also wish to acknowledge retiring directors Tal Karp and Kate Lundy, who made substantial 
contributions to AGPC and the running of the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix and the Australian 
Motorcycle Grand Prix during their time on the AGPC Board. 

As we farewell Tal and Kate, it is also time to welcome two new Board members – former Victorian 
Governor Linda Dessau AC CVO and Dr Gillian Sparkes AM, who have been appointed to the AGPC 
Board for three-year terms. Linda has also been appointed to the role of Deputy Chair. 

1. REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN 
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2. 2023/24 
ACHIEVEMENTS
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Sources: Formula 1® Spectator Experience Research, Yarra Trams.

FORMULA 1® HIGHLIGHTS

452,055

74%

HIGHEST

412,038 

95%

45,988 

Record-breaking estimated  
attendance.

Would recommend 
Melbourne as a holiday 

destination.

Friday, Saturday and 
Sunday attendances on 

record.

Patrons moved to or from the 
Grand Prix via Yarra Trams. 
(an increase from 339,952 in 2023)

of non-residents visited 
Melbourne just to attend 

the Grand Prix.

Record hospitality guests 
over the four event days. 

(a 7% increase on 2023)
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FORMULA 1® OVERVIEW

The Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix combines the pinnacle of international motorsport with an 
exceptional off-track fan experience and world-class hospitality, set against the iconic backdrop 
of Albert Park Lake and the Melbourne city skyline.

As a key pillar of Victoria’s major events landscape, the Grand Prix promotes Melbourne and the 
State to the world, attracting significant visitation and generating substantial economic benefit.

The FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024, held on 21-24 March, surpassed previous 
milestones and set new standards of excellence. An estimated attendance of 452,055 was the 
largest in Albert Park event’s history, with Friday, Saturday and Sunday all enjoying record crowd 
numbers.

The event showcases some of the most exciting four-wheeled racing in the world, with Formula 1® 
supported by Formula 2® and Formula 3® alongside popular national categories, Supercars and 
the Porsche Carrera Cup. The circuit’s unique blend of technicality and speed creates a thrilling 
experience for both drivers and spectators, with high-speed straights and increased overtaking 
opportunities.

But far more than just a motorsport event, the Albert Park Grand Prix Circuit roared to life with live 
music, activations for fans of all ages and interests, a Batman-inspired family zone, hospitality suites, 
and Victoria’s best food and beverage offerings.
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Working closely with the Victorian Government, AGPC is committed to maximising the economic and 
reputational impact of the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix and the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 
for Victoria.

With the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix secured for the city until at least 2037, the longest contract 
extension of any Grand Prix around the world at the time of signing, there is a long-term vision to 
continue to build the profile of the State as a destination for international audiences.

The FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024 saw the following benefits to the state: 

FORMULA 1®  VICTORIAN IMPACT

$1,235 92% 95%
Average spend per person 

on activities outside the 
Grand Prix.

According to F1® attendee research: 
•  �75% of non-local attendees are more likely to return to Melbourne within the next two years as 

a result of attending the FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024
•  74% would recommend Melbourne as a holiday destination.

of visitors stayed in paid 
accommodation, with  

an average length of stay  
of 4.5 nights.

of non-residents visited 
Melbourne just to attend 

the FORMULA 1 ROLEX 
AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 

2024.

Local attendees were also asked a variety of questions in the F1® attendee research relating to 
the impact of the FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024, with:
•  97% indicating that they hope Melbourne continues to host the Grand Prix
•  95% feel proud that Melbourne hosts the event
•  �92% believe that hosting the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix has had a positive impact  

on communities.

Source: Formula 1® Spectator Experience Research.
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MOTOGP™ HIGHLIGHTS

1ST 400+ 1ST
Johann Zarco won his first 
MotoGP™ race in front of 
a huge Saturday crowd, 

following a rapid response  
by fans to the change in  

race day.

Fans joining the 
Homecoming Ride with 
Marc Marquez, Pedro 
Acosta and Joel Kelso.

Joel Kelso achieves first 
Australian Moto3™ podium 

in nine years.

12 3
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MOTOGP™ OVERVIEW

The MotoGP™ Guru by Gryfyn Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 2023 delivered a dramatic weekend 
of racing for fans, with the iconic Phillip Island Grand Prix Circuit providing a unique set of challenges 
for the world’s best riders.

The MotoGP™ Guru by Gryfyn Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 2023 was held on 19-22 October 
2023 with an estimated attendance of 71,387.

The MotoGP™ Guru by Gryfyn Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 2023 race was brought forward by 
one day to be held on Saturday afternoon, in a race against the high winds and rain forecasted 
for Sunday. Frenchman Zarco Johann took his first ever MotoGP™ win after 120 starts, with a late 
overtake of teammate Jorge Martin, who had dominated the entire race.

The MotoGP™ Tissot Sprint was shifted to Sunday’s schedule, however high winds prevented the race 
from starting.

Moto2™ riders started their feature race on Sunday, but conditions continued to worsen and an early 
finish was called after nine laps. Tony Arbolino, who was leading by 15 seconds when the race was 
cut short, was declared the winner.

The Moto3™ grid were able to race in the morning, giving Australian Joel Kelso the opportunity to 
claim his first podium in Moto3™ with a 3rd place finish. Phillip Island is proving to be a successful 
circuit for the young Australian, whose previous best Moto3™ finish was 8th at the 2022 Australian 
Motorcycle Grand Prix.

Cheering on these talented riders and braving the conditions were the dedicated and unflappable 
fans, who are the reason for the incredible atmosphere at the circuit. Away from the on-track action, 
racegoers could be found enjoying live music, stunt displays, Fan Forum sessions with MotoGP™ riders, 
paella demonstrations from TV chef Miguel Maestre, or enjoying all that Phillip Island has to offer outside  
the circuit.
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ESG: ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
True to the innovative spirit of the sports of Formula 1® and MotoGP™, AGPC is committed to consistent 
improvement and transformation at our events. Focusing on areas across energy efficiency, waste 
reduction, responsible water consumption and fan engagement, the desired environmental 
sustainability outcomes are a combination of immediately impactful initiatives alongside small 
changes which will continue to grow and develop over time.

HIGHLIGHTS
•  �400,000+ pieces of single-use plastics 

diverted from landfill.

•  �22,000 meals diverted from landfill and 
redistributed to community groups.

•  �100% Certified Green Power for all 
grid-supplied electricity.

•  �61,301 litres of water consumed from 
refill stations, saving 122,602 single-use 
plastic bottles.

HIGHLIGHTS
•  �Four tonnes of food collected from 

catering outlets and redistributed to 
the community.

•  �An estimated equivalent of 5,790 
Co2-e Kg of emissions saved from the 
diversion of food waste from landfill.

•  �600kg of coffee grounds collected 
by social enterprise Reground and 
re-used as a soil nutrient by the Phillip 
Island Community Centre Garden.

ESG: COMMUNITY 
In the past 12 months, AGPC has worked extensively across both events to inspire, unify and empower 
our community. A range of initiatives have been implemented to honour Australia’s rich First Nations 
culture, forge meaningful partnerships with a range of charities, and provide opportunities for the 
next wave of STEM and grassroots motorsport talent.

HIGHLIGHTS
•  �24 wishes granted through Make-A-Wish, 

Starlight and My Room.

•  �739 tickets donated to charitable 
organisations.

•  �3,976 Community Day tickets donated 
to local residents and businesses.

•  �20,873 students attended as part of the 
Driving Learning Program, an increase of 
29.7% from 2023.

•  �60 students from Deadly Science 
attended event, with meet and greet 
opportunities with Red Bull and Williams 
drivers.

HIGHLIGHTS
•  �Support of Phillip Island Community & 

Learning Centre (PICAL) for second 
consecutive year.

•  �1,225 students enrolled in the Learn 
Trackside Program.

•  �Six specially designed helmets by First 
Nations artist Kobi Sainty were raffled 
for charity.

•  �First Brake-Fast Club community event, 
for Phillip Island businesses, was held.
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ESG: DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 
The accessibility experience of both the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix and the Australian Motorcycle 
Grand Prix are continuously being evaluated to ensure we deliver an inclusive environment which 
meets the needs and expectations of our diverse fan and stakeholder base. 

HIGHLIGHTS
•  �2,982 patrons utilised the accessible 

shuttle service.

•  500+ visitors to Sensory Room.

•  �First ever Pride Hub at a Formula 1® 
Grand Prix worldwide.

HIGHLIGHTS
•  �Introduction of the Hidden Disabilities 

Sunflower Program, with 106 full time 
and event staff inducted.

•  �514 passengers utilised the accessible 
shuttle service.

•  �Inclusion of an Accessible Information 
Office at Gate 7.
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A. INTRODUCTION
The Australian Grand Prix Corporation (AGPC) is a statutory authority established pursuant to the 
Australian Grands Prix Act 1994 (Vic) (as amended) (“AGP Act”).

AGPC is subject to the direction and control of the Minister administering the AGP Act, the Minister 
for Tourism, Sport and Major Events, Steve Dimopoulos MP.

B. MISSION STATEMENT
Create value for the State of Victoria.

C. VISION STATEMENT 
To stage the best international events.

D. FUNCTIONS AND STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Functions
The functions of AGPC are:
•  �to negotiate, enter into and vary agreements under which Formula 1® events are held;
•  �to undertake and facilitate the organisation, conduct, management and promotion of the Formula 

1® Australian Grand Prix and the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix events;
•  �to establish at Albert Park a temporary motor racing circuit and supporting facilities for Formula 1® 

events;
•  �to do all other things necessary for or in connection with the conduct and financial and commercial 

management of each Formula 1® event promoted by AGPC;
•  �with the consent of the Minister, to negotiate and enter into an agreement for the holding of, and 

to undertake the organisation, conduct, management and promotion of, a motorsport event 
approved by the Minister; and

• � such other functions as are conferred on AGPC under the AGP Act or any other Act.

Strategic Priorities
The strategic priorities and associated supporting strategic objectives of AGPC are as follows:

•  Promote Melbourne and Victoria through the events
	 o  to ensure local and global branding of Melbourne and Victoria;
	 o � to drive national and international awareness of the events, Melbourne and Victoria;
	 o � �to integrate the events into tourism strategies developed by the Victorian Government and its 

agencies;
	 o  �to cement Melbourne’s reputation as the centre of major events by delivering a world-class 

event experience to all intrastate, interstate and international visitors;
	 o  �to contribute to the growth of the local economy by providing opportunities to showcase 

Victorian businesses; and
	 o  �to contribute to the growth of the Victorian major events industry by providing employment and 

business development opportunities among related organisations.

•  Maximise revenues and minimise costs
	 o � �to continually improve our competitive position among other major events to increase return on 

investment;
	 o � to offer patrons compelling and value for money, product and event content;
	 o  �to implement robust financial review and control processes and keep costs under constant 

scrutiny; and
	 o � to foster a culture of shared responsibility for financial performance throughout the organisation.
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•  Deliver events safely and to the highest standards
	 o  �to establish and deploy clearly articulated safety management systems and event management plans;
	 o  �to maintain and continually evaluate an active risk register;
	 o  �to foster a culture of shared responsibility for event safety and quality among our people, 

contractors, agencies, partners and suppliers; and
	 o  �to ensure our people, contractors, agencies, partners and suppliers clearly understand and 

deliver against our expectations of ‘highest standards’.

•  Increase attendances at the events
	 o  �to expand national and international awareness of the event;
	 o  �to drive ticket sales through clearly defined and implemented sales and marketing 

communications strategies;
	 o  �to fully understand our customers and what they want and expect from the event; and
	 o  �to keep the events fresh and compelling by continually challenging, refreshing and improving 

content and products.

•  Provide an exceptional event experience
	 o  �to exceed patron expectations in product mix and event content;
	 o  �to surprise and delight patrons by continually reviewing, refreshing and improving product and 

event content; and
	 o  �to provide patrons with exceptional basic needs, safety, social interaction, communication and 

entertainment.

•  Build positive event brand perceptions
	 o  �to increase positive public support for the events;
	 o  �to build a brand identity which is consistent, recognisable and sustainable in the long term;
	 o  �to engage with the community at large to promote the positive attributes and benefits of the events;
	 o  �to establish a “Brand Identity” that is sustainable, long term;
	 o  �to increase and leverage the following of the sports (Formula 1® and MotoGP™) among core 

customer segments; and
	 o  �to be considered a good community citizen, minimising our impact on the people and regions 

in which we operate.

•  Empower and support our staff
	 o  �to provide leadership and vision through clearly articulated strategies, objectives and behaviours;
	 o  �to enhance the skills, professionalism and capabilities of our people;
	 o  �to encourage our people to succeed, providing them with guidance, support and resources; and
	 o  �to minimise staff turnover and retain organisational IP and knowledge.

These strategic priorities define the way AGPC will deliver both the Formula 1® Australian Grand 
Prix and the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix. Each is supported by a set of initiatives and specific 
tactical elements that are reviewed for each event on an annual basis.  

The reporting and consultative structures of the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix and the Australian 
Motorcycle Grand Prix are set out on the following pages.

E. VALUES
Our organisation values are: 

TO
 IG

NI
TE

 PA
SSION THROUGH UNFORGETTABLE EXPERIENCES
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F. ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE

Members of AGPC
The Members of AGPC act in an honorary capacity. The Members of AGPC as at 30 June 2024 are:

Hon. Martin Pakula - Chairman
Mr Pakula is the former Victorian Minister for Jobs, Innovation and Trade, 
Minister for Tourism, Sport and Major Events, Minister for Racing and Member 
for Keysborough.
While studying economics and law at Monash University in 1987, Mr Pakula 
joined the Labor Party. In 1993, he joined the National Union of Workers, 
serving in a variety of positions including State Secretary and National Vice 
President.
In 2006, he was elected to the Legislative Council, and served as Parliamentary 
Secretary for Transport and Parliamentary Secretary for Roads and Ports. Mr 
Pakula then served as Minister for Industry and Trade, Minister for Industrial 
Relations and Minister for Public Transport. In Opposition, Mr Pakula was the 

Shadow Attorney-General, Shadow Minister for Gaming and Racing, Shadow Minister for Corrections 
and Opposition Scrutiny of Government spokesperson.
During the Andrews’ Government’s first term, Mr Pakula held the position of Attorney-General and 
Minister for Racing.
As Minister for Tourism, Sport and Major Events, Mr Pakula helped secure the deal with Liberty Media to 
secure the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix at Albert Park until 2037.
Mr Pakula commenced his term as Chairman on 10 October 2023.

Kimberley Brown
Ms Brown lives in the Bass Coast Shire, home of the Australian Motorcycle 
Grand Prix, and has had extensive local Government experience (Bass Coast 
Shire Councillor from 2012–2016, Mayor in 2015, representative to Municipal 
Association of Victoria) and engagement with the local community (Phillip 
Island Community Advisory Committee, Phillip Island Nature Parks Liaison 
Group). She was a member of the Visitor Economy Strategy Bass Coast 2020 
reference group and the Australia Day Council and has served on countless 
committees and advisory groups across the tourism and major event sector, 
such as Chairing the Phillip Island Community Event Advisory Committee, and 
her tenure as President of the Phillip Island Business Network. 
Ms Brown is a former Trustee of the States Sports Centre Trust (which runs the 

Sports and Aquatic Centre and Lakeside Stadium in Albert Park and the State Netball and Hockey 
Centre at Royal Park), where she was also a member of its Audit Committee and Chair of the State 
Netball and Hockey Community Advisory Committee. Ms Brown also formerly served as Director of 
Table Tennis Victoria.
Ms Brown is currently involved in the tourism and hospitality industry, as a Board member of Destination 
Phillip Island and as a General Manager of hospitality venues for Saltwater Hotels and Properties.   
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Michael (Mick) Doohan am

Mr Doohan is a Grand Prix motorcycle road racing World Champion, who 
won five consecutive MotoGP™ (500 cc) World Championships – 1994, 95, 
96, 97 and 98.   
Duly acclaimed as one of the greatest motorcycle riders of all time, Mr 
Doohan received worldwide acknowledgement and recognition of his 
distinguished career during and after his retirement in 1999. He was awarded 
the Member of the Order of Australia in 1996 and an Australian Sports Medal 
in 2000. He was inducted into the Sport Australia Hall of Fame in 2009 and 
was elected a member of the prestigious Laureus World Sports Academy 
in 2010, a position he still occupies today.  In 2018, Mr Doohan received 
legend status in the Australian Motor Sport Hall of Fame.

Mr Doohan has given back to the sport he loves and to his passion for motorsport more generally. 
His current commitment to the board of AGPC and, until recently, as Chairman and Director of 
Competition for Karting Australia (Australian Karting Association Ltd) for many years, are testimony.
Mr Doohan transitioned to business life with the same determination, intuition and vision which saw him 
dominate his chosen sport. Channelling his passion for aviation, Mr Doohan now owns and operates 
Jetcraft Australia and New Zealand, Global Jet International, and the Platinum Business Aviation 
Centres on the Gold Coast and in Melbourne. Jetcraft Australia and New Zealand is one of the world’s 
largest private aircraft brokerage businesses.
Mr Doohan has numerous other business interests and investments. These interests span private equity, 
real estate, and domestic and international investment holdings.
Mr Doohan brings to the board’s decision making an invaluable combination of elite athlete and 
successful business owner and entrepreneur.  

Nicki Kenyon
Ms Kenyon is a globally experienced director, strategic marketing leader 
and growth strategist with a successful career of building businesses and 
brands across Asia Pacific in emerging and established markets. 
Ms Kenyon has held executive leadership and change management roles 
for global corporations and start-ups within travel, financial and technology 
sectors. Her experience has been gained working with organisations facing 
intense growth, undergoing transformation, disrupting industry or entering new 
global markets. Her diverse background, working for companies including 
Visit Victoria, Visa, Facebook and Ogilvy, has equipped her with expertise in 
transformational change, operational leadership, business development and 
digital innovation and integrated marketing.

Ms Kenyon is a multi-dimensional, inclusive leader who inspires individuals to work collectively to innovate 
and exceed goals. She thrives on making a tangible impact for companies and communities, with a 
keen focus on driving impact, growth and business success.
Ms Kenyon has held Executive Board positions and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors (AICD). She currently sits on the Board of Fenwick Software as a non-executive director.
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Paul J. Lappin aca

Mr Lappin is an experienced executive and non-executive director who has a 
reputation for providing independent and thoughtful advice to Government, 
business and community organisations, particularly in relation to building a 
strong strategic vision and the strong corporate governance framework to 
ensure it can be achieved. 
A Chartered Accountant and auditor, Mr Lappin has worked in senior 
positions in Australia and the USA with global professional services firm PwC 
as well as running a successful strategic financial consultancy that provided 
support for business and Government clients.
Mr Lappin’s work as a Director with PGA of Australia and former chairman 
roles in a national catering firm and a digital disruption firm, as well as being 

a former director of the Melbourne Fashion Festival, has given him experience in the need to find and 
engage the next generation of customer or supporter. Mr Lappin is also the Chair of Nico-Lab limited, 
an International Meditech Company.
Mr Lappin is highly regarded and connected within the Victorian business, political and sporting 
communities where he has a strong network and is renowned for being able to bring people of 
diverse views and backgrounds together around a common and aligned goal. 

John O’Rourke
Mr O’Rourke is founder and non-executive director of Plenary, an 
international property and infrastructure investment company, specialising 
in public-private partnerships (PPPs).  He was Plenary’s inaugural Chair from 
Plenary’s inception in 2004 to 2024.
Since the establishment of Plenary in Australia in 2004, Plenary has developed 
a portfolio of infrastructure assets across Australia, North America, United 
Kingdom and the Middle East.
Prior to establishing Plenary in 2004, Mr O’Rourke spent 10 years leading the 
Melbourne-based Infrastructure Capital business of ABN AMRO (formerly 
BZW).

In December 2022 Mr O’Rourke was appointed President of the Richmond Football Club where he 
had been a member of the board since 2015. 
Mr O’Rourke was also a board director of the Victoria Racing Club from 2011-2020, and during his 
term served as Honorary Treasurer and Vice Chairman.

Mark Webber ao

Mr Webber competed in 215 races across 12 seasons from 2002 until 2013 
in the FIA Formula One World ChampionshipTM with 4 World Constructors 
Championships, 9 race wins, 42 podiums and 13 pole positions.  He was 
the 2015 FIA World Endurance Champion and is a three time winner of the 
BRDC Bruce McLaren award.  
Mr Webber was made an Officer of the Order of Australia in 2017 for 
distinguished service to motor sport as a competitor and ambassador, and 
to the community through fundraising and patronage of a range of medical 
and youth support organisations. 
Mr Webber is currently a global Porsche Special Representative, Rolex 
testimonee, Red Bull athlete and television commentator and analyst for 

Channel 4’s coverage of Formula 1® in the United Kingdom. He was inducted into the Australian 
Motor Sport Hall of Fame in 2018.

Mr Webber’s official tenure as a Board member concluded on 12 November 2023 after which he 
served as an observer on the Board until his reappointment on 6 August 2024.
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Audit, Finance and Risk Committee membership and roles
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee consists of the following members:

•  Paul Lappin (Chair); 
•  Kimberley Brown; and
•  Kate Lundy (resigned 22 August 2023)

The main responsibilities of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee are to review and provide advice on:

1.	  �Financial performance and the financial reporting process, including the annual financial 
statements;

2.	  �The appointment, scope of work, performance and independence of the internal and external 
auditor;

3.	  �Matters of accountability and internal control affecting the operations of AGPC;

4.  	�The acceptability of correct accounting treatment for and disclosure of significant transactions 
which are not part of AGPC’s normal course of business;

5. 	 The sign-off of accounting policies;

6.	  �AGPC’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and its own Code of 
Conduct and Code of Financial Practice;

7.	  The sign-off of risk management systems and procedures;

8.	�  The sign-off of information technology security, governance and compliance processes;

9.	  The design and effectiveness of governance procedures; and

10. � Management actions and implementations of external and internal audit recommendation.
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 Management of AGPC as at 30 June 2024

Chief Executive Officer – Travis Auld
Responsibility is to oversee and manage all operational and strategic 
aspects of the Australian Grand Prix Corporation, including specifically the 
successful staging of the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix and the Australian 
Motorcycle Grand Prix. As two important pillars of the State’s major events 
landscape, these events bring significant economic and reputational value 
to Melbourne and Victoria.

Mr Auld commenced as CEO on 14 August 2023.

Chief Financial Officer – Anthony Connelly
Responsibilities include leadership and delivery of the entire budgeting, 
business planning and funding processes, statutory financial reporting, 
financial modelling and analysis, financial operations, all financial 
compliance and governance obligations of AGPC, enterprise risk 
management, information technology, cyber and data security, business 
systems and tools, technology infrastructure requirements for each event, 
along with oversight of the people, culture and capability function.

Head of People, Culture and Capability – Lex Cran
Responsibilities include management of the people, performance and 
culture deliverables including employer branding, recruitment and 
onboarding, payroll administration, learning and development, employee 
relations, performance management, succession planning, remuneration 
and benefits, organisational culture, diversity and inclusion, wellbeing and  
HR data.

Chief Communications Officer – Haydn Lane
Responsibilities include Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG), 
reputation management, issues and crisis management, corporate 
communications, Formula 1® and MotoGP™ events publicity, stakeholder 
engagement, strategic partnerships, education programs, community 
relations and media centres accreditation and management.

General Manager, Sales and Commercial – Darian Misko
Responsibilities include driving and retaining commercial revenue, through 
hospitality ticket sales and sponsorship sales for both the Formula 1® and 
MotoGP™ events. Tasked with shaping patron offerings and experiences 
during AGPC events, with the objective of ensuring a strategic, contemporary, 
and customer-focused approach. This includes the development of new 
and innovative facilities, hospitality product offerings and brand partnerships 
that lead to revenue growth and increased customer satisfaction.
Note: Mr Misko concluded this role on 6 September 2024 and commenced in the role of Director of 
Commercial Development and Growth.
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Chief Events Officer – Tom Mottram
Responsibilities include overall project management of both events, venue 
design and overlay, event build and infrastructure management, event 
presentation, on-track motorsport program, international sporting delivery, 
motorsport support category management, venue operations, customer 
experience, community relations and accessibility and inclusion services, 
corporate and public hospitality experiences, operations and event risk 
management, safety and compliance management, crisis and emergency 
management, traffic and transport operations, emergency services planning 
and liaison, security and access control and capital works program.

Chief Legal Officer – Dale Nardella
Responsibilities include management of the legal affairs of AGPC, 
Government and commercial rights liaison, statutory obligations and the 
structuring and formation of AGPC’s commercial arrangements.

Chief Commercial Officer – Emma Pinwill 
(from 9 September 2024)

Responsibilities include growing and retaining revenue via the development 
and delivery of a commercial strategy, development and execution 
of AGPC’s marketing & experience strategy to build brand awareness, 
maximise marketing ROI, grow digital performance across relevant platforms 
and channels and shaping patron offerings and experiences during AGPC 
events.

*Claire Back was General Manager, Marketing & Experience from 1st July 2023 to 18th June 2024.
*Matthew Walton was General Manager, Design & Construction from 1st July 2023 to 15th May 2024. 
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4. PEOPLE, SAFETY 
AND WELLBEING

A. WORKFORCE DATA

The number of personnel employed by AGPC as at 30 June 2024 was 96 (2023: 92). 

JUNE 2023 – JUNE 2024
Demographic Data

JUNE 2024
All employees Ongoing Fixed term and casual

Head 
count

FTE Full-time* Part-time* FTE Head 
count

FTE

GENDER
Women 47 46.6 44 1 44.6 2 2
Men 49 49 45 - 45 4 4
Self-described - - - - - - -
AGE
15-24 7 7 7 - 7 - -
25-34 50 50 46 - 46 4 4
35-44 26 25.6 25 1 24.6 1 1
45-54 10 10 10 - 10 - -
55-64 2 1 1 - 1 1 1
65+ 1 1 1 - 1 - -

JUNE 2023
All employees Ongoing Fixed term and casual

Head 
count

FTE Full-time* Part-time* FTE Head 
count

FTE

GENDER
Women 47 45.9 37 3 39.3 7 6.6
Men 45 44 41 - 40 4 4
Self-described - - - - - - -
AGE
15-24 6 6 5 - 5 1 1
25-34 41 39.8 34 - 33 7 6.8
35-44 25 24.4 23 2 24.4 - -
45-54 12 11.9 10 1 10.9 1 1
55-64 6 6 5 - 5 1 1
65+ 2 1.8 1 - 1 1 0.8

* Head count 
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B. WELLBEING AND SAFETY
In meeting the moral and legal obligations regarding occupational and public health and safety, 
AGPC has continued to develop and implement its risk and safety management system.
Initiatives undertaken during the year ending 30 June 2024 to ensure effective risk management, 
injury prevention and promotion of a safe environment included:

Risk and Safety Management Systems:
•  �ongoing development of the risk and safety management system;
•  �ongoing development of the audit and assurance of the risk and safety management systems;
•  �ongoing review of safety management resourcing and structure to enhance the effectiveness 

of the framework to deliver safety outcomes for design and construction, event safety, and staff 
welfare;

•  �enhancement to AGPC’s risk and crisis management arrangements;
•  �ongoing drug and alcohol testing in high-risk work environments;
•  �implementation of a new Safety Management System to be rolled out for FY2025;
•  �ongoing use of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee to maintain oversight of event and enterprise 

risk;
•  �ongoing and regular review of event and enterprise risk registers;
•  �engaged with external consultants to conduct an insurable risk review, with aim to identify major 

enterprise risk and mitigations through insurance;
•  �engaged external auditors to undertake a review of the organisation’s risk framework to determine 

the organisation’s risk maturity and appetite and then provide actions to implement as a result of 
the audit; and

•  �staff survey regarding risk maturity and knowledge across the business. 

Design and Construction Safety:
•  �continued use of Hammertech (project/safety management system) for use at both the Formula 

1® Australian Grand Prix and Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix;
•  �ongoing collaboration with the provider of engineering project management services (iEDM) to 

enhance contractor and third-party management process; and
•  �continued safety improvements at Tottenham Storage Yard (TSY) in line with outcomes of the 

previous external audit / review (Right Strategy).

Event and Public Safety:
•  �extensive event readiness program comprising approximately 79 readiness activities for the Formula 

1® Australian Grand Prix;
•  �continued facilitation of the Emergency Management Planning Committee comprising 

representatives from key emergency service agencies and other event stakeholders;
•  �facilitation of the Traffic and Transport Committee, comprising representatives from relevant 

transport agencies and stakeholders;
•  �ongoing consideration of safety by design principles by the Venue Design and Operations 

Committee for infrastructure and placement of event features;
•  �extensive prevention and response plans in place to mitigate the diverse safety and security risks 

for our events; and
•  �track invasion not permitted for the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix event and additional Track 

Protection Enhancement measures. 

Health and Wellbeing:
•  �appointment of Wellbeing Champions and targeted training provided;  
•  �event time Wellbeing Officers and staff wellbeing room at the FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN 

GRAND PRIX 2024;
•  �MotoGP™ Readiness Wellbeing Plan implemented; 
•  �monitoring of working hours and decreases in additional hours worked;



2024 ANNUAL REPORT 
P|33

AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION

•  �psychosocial Risks Gap analysis completed;
•  �promotion of the employee assistance program;
•  �implementation of anonymous reporting platform; 
•  �improvements made in relation to ways of working;
•  �further development of work related to the Organisational Culture Inventory (OCI) measurement;
•  �additional LifeStyles Inventory (LSI) measurements completed and associated coaching provided;
•  �leadership through Self-Management course provided to new employees;
•  �implementation of DiSC assessment to improve understanding of different styles and preferences; 
•  �roll out of training related to Hidden Disabilities, creating a Culture of Accountability, Personal 

Brand Management, Giving and Receiving Feedback, Career Conversations, Critical Thinking for 
Problem Solving; Leader as Coach; Respect at Work, and Accessibility and Inclusion training;

•  �wellbeing & inclusion events including International Day of People with Disability, International 
Women’s Day, Wear it Purple Day and NAIDOC Week; and

•  �flu vaccinations made available to all staff.

C. OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The statistical performance relating to AGPC staff and contractors is based on incident reports 
received and can be summarised as:

INJURIES 2024 2023 2022
Lost Time Injuries - - 2
Medical Treated Injuries - - 3
First Aid Injuries 2 1 -
TOTAL 2 1 5
CLAIMS
No. of standard claims (a) 1 - 4
Rate per 100 FTE (b) - - 6
Average cost per standard claim (a) $1,053 $0 $3,214

Notes:
(a) Data sourced from Victorian WorkCover Authority (VWA).
(b) Reported per 100 FTE as required under FRD 22H.

AGPC’s risk and safety systems are subject to ongoing audit and review against industry standards.

D. INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
In accordance with the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) AGPC continues to develop and implement revised 
employment conditions and policies to align with various changes to workplace legislation. All 
grievances are addressed by the Chief Executive Officer and can be escalated to the Chair of the 
People Committee of the Board if required.

In the event of any strike, standard stand-down provisions are incorporated into all employee 
contracts. There was no time lost due to industrial disputes during the period.

E. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY
AGPC is an equal opportunity employer committed to promoting and maintaining a diverse 
workforce and an inclusive workplace by encouraging a culture of respect, dignity and openness 
to other’s differences and perspectives.  It embraces all individuals regardless of gender identity or 
sexual orientation, race, age, disability status, or family and caring responsibilities and made further 
improvements to policies and procedures to support its current practices. 

AGPC’s Gender Equality Action Plan (GEAP) was formally approved by the Commission for Gender 
Equality in the Public Sector in July 2022.  Since then, substantial progress has been made on 
implementation of the GEAP. 
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F. MULTICULTURAL POLICY
AGPC has implemented initiatives and structures to recruit and retain a diverse range of candidates 
and promote an inclusive workplace culture. It endeavours to promote policies applicable to a 
culturally and linguistically diverse society. AGPC promotes events throughout ethnic communities.

 
G. EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
The following table discloses the annualised total salary for executive officers of AGPC. The salary 
amount is reported as the full-time annualised salary, at a 1-FTE rate and excludes superannuation.

EXECUTIVES

<$160,000 -

$160,000 - $179,999 -

$180,000 - $199,999 -

$200,000 - $219,999 1

$220,000 - $239,999 1

$240,000 - $259,999 2

$260,000 - $279,999 1

$280,000 - $299,999 2

$300,000 - $319,999 -

$320,000 - $339,999 -

$340,000 - $359,999 -

$360,000 - $379,999 -

$380,000 - $399,999 -

$400,000 - $419,999 -

$420,000 - $439,999 -

$440,000 - $459,999 -

$460,000 - $479,999 -

$480,000 - $499,999 -

>$500,000 1

Number of Executives 8
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5. FINANCIAL REVIEW

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

The FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024 was held on 21 March 
– 24 March 2024. Melbourne and Victoria were on global display as the third 
round of the 2024 FIA Formula One World ChampionshipTM.

As shown in the table below, the government investment for the FORMULA 1 
ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024 was $102.31 million.

FORMULA 1® AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX ($ THOUSAND)

RESULT BY EVENT 2024 2023 2022 2021(b) 2020

Sales Revenue 92,605 76,036 56,037 - 60

Total Revenue 116,929 96,922 75,057 646 9,680

Total Expenditure(a) (219,241) (197,571) (153,179) (13,123) (49,402)

Operating Result before 
Government Investment & 
Depreciation

(102,313) (100,649) (78,122) (12,477) (39,722)

Government Investment 102,313 100,649 78,122 12,477 39,722

Notes:
(a) The expenditure above relating to the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix is exclusive of depreciation and amortisation expenses, gain/loss on 
disposal, the transfer of assets free of charge to Parks Victoria and unrealised foreign exchange gains/losses.
(b) No event took place during the 2020/21 financial year. The costs incurred relate to general running of the business and costs incurred in 
preparing and planning for the event prior to its cancellation.

Capital Works Activities
The total capital spend for the 2023-24 financial year was $3.15 million (2022-23: $3.27 million).

The 2023-24 capital works expenditure (encompassing works conducted under licence from Parks 
Victoria) included:
•  track and race infrastructure;
•  infrastructure and essential services;
•  technology;
•  corporate hospitality and facilities;
•  customer experience and fan engagement;
•  event presentation; and
•  project management and business improvements.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

The MotoGP™ Guru by Gryfyn Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 2023 was 
held on 20 – 22 October 2023.

AUSTRALIAN MOTORCYCLE GRAND PRIX ($ THOUSAND)

RESULT BY EVENT 2023 2022 2021(b) 2020(b) 2019

Sales Revenue  9,053  9,818 25 - 7.495

Total Revenue  13,533  14,143 25 - 11,241

Total Expenditure(a)  (39,627)  (41,476) (4,502) (3,887) (25,202)

Operating Result before 
Government Investment & 
Depreciation

 (26,094)  (27,333) (4,477) (3,887) (13,961)

Government Investment  26,094  27,333 4,477 3,887 13,961

Notes:
(a) The expenditure above relating to the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix is exclusive of depreciation and amortisation expenses. 
(b) No events took place during the 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial years. The costs incumed relate to fixed contractual costs and other costs 
incurred in preparing and planning for the event prior to its cancellation.
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6. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER 
INFORMATION

A. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic) allows the public a right of access to documents held by 
the Australian Grand Prix Corporation (AGPC).

MAKING A REQUEST
Requests must satisfy the formal requirements set out in the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic). 
In particular, applicants should ensure that the request provides sufficient information concerning 
the document as is reasonably necessary to enable the responsible officer of AGPC to identify the 
document. Where a request does not comply with the necessary requirements, the applicant will be 
so advised and given the opportunity to reformulate the request.

Upon receipt of the request AGPC will endeavour to provide a response as soon as practicable 
and, in any case, not later than 30 days after the day on which AGPC receives the request unless a 
request for extension process has been approved.

The types of documents to which access will not be granted are detailed in Part 4 of the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982 (Vic) and Section 49 of the Australian Grands Prix Act 1994 (Vic).  Where 
access is denied, applicants will be given reasons. If an applicant is not satisfied by a decision made 
by AGPC, under section 49A of the Act, they have the right to seek a review by the Office of the 
Victorian Information Commissioner (OVIC) within 28 days of receiving a decision letter.

Requests for access to documents under the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic) should be 
addressed to:
Freedom of Information Officer
Australian Grand Prix Corporation
Level 5, 616 St Kilda Road
Melbourne VIC 3004 

Further information regarding Freedom of Information can be found on the OVIC website  
(www.ovic.vic.gov.au).

CHARGES
Requests for access must be accompanied by a $42.00 application fee as at 1 July 2024.  Further 
charges for the supply of documents in relation to Freedom of Information requests are made in 
accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic) and the Freedom of Information (Access 
Charges) Regulations 2004 (Vic).

CATEGORIES OF DOCUMENTS
AGPC maintains records and files incorporating documents relating to general administrative matters, 
the Formula 1® event at Albert Park and the Motorcycle Grand Prix held at Phillip Island. All records 
and files are maintained at AGPC’s premises in Melbourne or at an external offsite storage provider’s 
premises.

AGPC also maintains two websites at www.grandprix.com.au and www.motogp.com.au and 
produces promotional newsletters for sending to subscribers.
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FOI STATISTICS/TIMELINESS 
During 2023-2024, AGPC received four applications. Three applications received were from the 
general public. One application was received from a sitting Member of Parliament (Victoria).

AGPC made three FOI decisions during the 12 months ended 30 June 2024 – two decisions on 
applications from this financial year and one decision on an application made prior to 1 July 2023. 
Presently, there are two decisions outstanding from two applications made on 18 June 2024.

One application received in 2023-24 required an extension and the decision was made within 45 
days of the application being received. One decision was made within 30 days of the application 
being received. Two decisions remain outstanding as at 30 June 2024, but are within the 30 day time 
limit.

The average time taken to finalise requests received in 2023-24 was estimated to be 27.5 days from 
receipt of a valid request, but this excludes any time where the time for making a decision was 
extended. It also excludes the matter originally received prior to 1 July 2023 and the outstanding 
applications received on 18 June 2024. 

During 2023-24, AGPC appealed a decision made by the Information Commissioner and it is currently 
before Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT).

B. CONSULTANCY SERVICES

Details of consultancies over $10,000

($ THOUSAND)

Consultant Purpose of consultancy
Total 

approved 
project fee

Expenditure 
2023-24

Future 
expenditure

KPMG Derivatives advice 18 18 -
EY Economic Impact 

Assessment
108 108 -

Ashley Davies Consulting Pit Building Feasibility study 303 232 -
Cox Architecture Pty Ltd Pit Building Feasibility study 857 812 -
Workforce Advantage EBA Agreement 142 88 54

Colganbauer Sponsorship Benchmarking 
Strategy 30 30 -

Perfectly Paired Catering Strategy 36 18 18

Details of consultancies under $10,000
In 2023-24, there were no consultancies engaged during the year where the total fee payable was 
less than $10,000. 
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C. MEMBERS’ MEETINGS

The number of Members’ meetings and the number of meetings attended by each of the Members 
of AGPC during the financial year were:

MEETINGS ATTENDED MEETINGS HELD
Hon. Martin Pakula (Chair)(a) 5 5
Mr Paul Little ao (Chair)(b) 2 2
Ms Kimberley Brown 8 8
Mr Michael Doohan am 8 8
Ms Tal Karp(c) 3 3
Ms Nicki Kenyon 8 8
Mr Paul Lappin 8 8
Ms Kate Lundy(d) 1 1
Mr John O’Rourke 8 8
Mr Mark Webber ao (e) 7 8

Notes:
(a) Hon. Martin Pakula’s term commenced 10 October 2023.
(b) Mr Paul Little ao’s term ended 16 September 2023.
(c) Ms Tal Karp’s term ended 14 October 2023.
(d) Ms Kate Lundy’s term ended 22 August 2023.
(e) Mr Webber AO’s term ended 12 November 2023, after which he was an observer of the Board.

D. BUILDING ACT 1993 (VIC)

In accordance with Section 48(1) of the Australian Grands Prix Act 1994 (Vic), nothing in the Building 
Act 1993 (Vic) applies to the carrying out of works authorised by and in accordance with the Australian 
Grands Prix Act 1994 (Vic) or at the request of AGPC in the declared area.

AGPC has however undertaken to comply with the specifications of the Building Act 1993 (Vic) 
wherever practicable.

E. LOCAL JOBS FIRST

The Local Jobs First Act 2003 (Vic) requires all Victorian Departments and agencies to report on the 
implementation of the Local Jobs First. Departments and public sector bodies are required to apply 
the Local Jobs First in standard projects valued at $3 million or more in metropolitan Melbourne and 
for state-wide projects, or $1 million or more for procurement activities in regional Victoria.

Projects Commenced – Local Jobs First Standard
During 2023-24, AGPC commenced eight Local Jobs First applicable procurements in metropolitan 
Melbourne with a combined value of approximately $73 million. 

During 2023-24, AGPC commenced one Local Jobs First applicable procurement in regional Victoria 
with a value of approximately $1 million. 

The outcomes expected from the implementation of the Local Jobs First Policy across the eight 
projects identified in metropolitan Melbourne and one project identified in regional Victoria, on the 
information provided to AGPC, in respect of the year that ended 30 June 2024 is as follows:
•�  �between 75 per cent and 100 per cent local content commitment was made by the respective suppliers;
•�  commitment of approximately 1,750-2,250 total jobs across the nine projects1;
•�  �creation of approximately 375-450 new jobs and the retention of approximately 300 existing jobs; and
• � �approximately 18-20 positions for apprentices, trainees and cadets were created, including the 

retention of 6 existing apprenticeships.

Disclosure of Major Contracts
AGPC entered into two major contracts greater than $10.0 million in total during the year that ended 
30 June 2024.
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F. AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Information contained in this report has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1994 (Vic) and is available to the Minister for Tourism, Sport and Major Events, Steve Dimopoulos MP, 
the public on request and from AGPC’s web sites www.grandprix.com.au and www.motogp.com.au.

G. DETAILS OF ADVERTISING EXPENDITURE 
(campaigns with a media spend of $100,000 or greater)

($ THOUSAND)

NAME OF CAMPAIGN CAMPAIGN SUMMARY START/END DATE

FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN  
GRAND PRIX 2024

Campaign and brand strategy, 
creative development and tactical 

planning.

October 2023 - 
March 2024

Advertising  
Media) 

Creative & 
campaign 

development 

Research and 
Evaluation Print & collateral Other Campaign 

1,221 50 56 59 93
NAME OF CAMPAIGN CAMPAIGN SUMMARY START/END DATE

MotoGP™ Guru by Gryfyn Australian 
Motorcycle Grand Prix 2023

Campaign and brand strategy, 
creative development and tactical 

planning.

June 2023 - 
October 2023

Advertising  
Media) 

Creative & 
campaign 

development 

Research and 
Evaluation Print & collateral Other Campaign 

447 40 93 38 16

H. INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY EXPENDITURE

For the 2023-24 reporting period, AGPC had a total ICT expenditure of $1,796,836, with the details 
shown below:

($ THOUSAND)

Business As Usual (BAU) 
ICT Expenditure 

Non-Business As 
Usual (non-BAU) ICT 

Expenditure

Operational 
Expenditure

Capital 
Expenditure

1,152 645 - 645

ICT expenditure refers to AGPC’s costs in providing business enabling ICT services within the current 
reporting period. It comprises Business As Usual (BAU) ICT expenditure and Non-Business As Usual 
(Non-BAU) ICT expenditure. Non-BAU ICT expenditure relates to extending or enhancing AGPC’s 
current ICT capabilities. BAU ICT expenditure is all remaining ICT expenditure which primarily relates 
to ongoing activities to operate and maintain the current ICT capability.

 

I. DISCLOSURES UNDER THE PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURES ACT 2012 (VIC)

2023-24 2022-23
The number of assessable disclosures made to AGPC and notified to IBAC:
Assessable disclosures - -

Employees and/or officers of the Australian Grand Prix Corporation have been made aware of the 
Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (Vic) through internal communication processes as well as the 
guidelines on how to report disclosures to the Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission.
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Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by the Australian Grand Prix Corporation or 
any of its employees and/or officers may be made directly to the Independent Broad-based Anti-
Corruption Commission:
Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street 
Melbourne, VIC 3000
Phone: 1300 735 135 
Internet: www.ibac.vic.gov.au

Further information
The Protected Disclosure Policy and Procedures, which outline the system for reporting disclosures 
of improper conduct or detrimental action by the Australian Grand Prix Corporation or any of its 
employees and/or officers, are available on the Department of Jobs, Skills, Industry and Regions’ 
website.

J. COMPLIANCE WITH THE DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION ACT 1992 (CTH)
AGPC is committed to complying with and exceeding its obligations under the Disability Discrimination 
Act (1992) to ensure people with disabilities be given equal opportunity to participate in and 
contribute to the full range of economic, social, cultural, and political activities.

Additionally, over the past 12 months, AGPC has: 
•  �established a Disability and Inclusion Action Plan (DIAP) committee, with representatives from 

across the business, tasked with championing the delivery of the DIAP goals and commitments;
•  �continued to advertise roles on The Field accessible recruitment platform;
•  �recruited an employee with physical disabilities;
•  �had 127 team members participate in Access & Inclusion online training;
•  �had six team members participate in the Diversity & Inclusion Forum run by Becoming Better 

Together Collective;
•  �had 45 team members participate in an in-house forum celebrating International Day of People 

with Disability with the purpose to increase awareness around accessibility in the workplace and 
the potential impact during events;

•  �amended job advert templates to attract a broader talent pool e.g. non-traditional cover letter, 
video application etc;

•  �introduced a statement in recruitment process to accommodate adjustments candidates 
may require and are exploring additional ways to better accommodate for these adjustments 
throughout the recruitment process; and

•  �introduced a blind talent pool which involves the removal of name, gender, location, qualifications 
(where possible). This enables the recruitment team to focus on skills and relevant work experience.

At the FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024, AGPC continued to deliver a range of 
accessible and inclusive offerings aimed at improving the experience of event attendees. Initiatives 
included: 
•  �complimentary accessible transport services around the venue;
•  �general admission accessible viewing platforms and grandstands;
•  �accessible corporate hospitality facilities;
•  �changing places facilities;
•  �complimentary onsite accessible parking;
•  �enhanced wayfinding signage to assist people with disability;
•  �a sensory reduced pit lane walk focusing on a neurodiverse audience while also catering for fans 

with varying accessibility needs;
•  �low sensory rooms; and 
•  �Auslan Interpreters.
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For the first time:
•  �AGPC introduced accessible viewing platforms at M-Lane and on Melbourne Walk – two areas of 

the venue that drive large volumes of patrons, making them more accessible and inclusive; and
•  �become a member of the internationally recognised Sunflower Program, which aims to help 

people with hidden disabilities. 

Additionally, AGPC appointed the What Ability Foundation as the Community Impact Partner at the 
FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024 emphasising both organisations’ commitment to 
prioritising fun for people living with disability and ensuring that the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix is 
accessible for fans. The partnership also complimented the What Ability Foundation’s vision to create 
an inclusive community across Australia, embarking on a mission to unlock one million experiences 
for people with disabilities and their families.

The partnership saw the What Ability Foundation act as a presenting partner of the Turn 12 accessible 
platform, host an activation site for fans, receive all proceeds from the sales of the Driving Change 
2024 pin and have access to a range of tickets and experiences for their participants with disability.

Through close consultation and engagement with its disability advisors at Get Skilled Access, the AGPC 
will remain committed to delivering and continuously improving on the services and facilities it offers.

K. ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING 

Environmental Management System
AGPC does not currently have an Environmental Management System (EMS). AGPC ESG team manage 
environmental impacts through the AGPC Sustainability Action Plan which details environmental goals 
from 2023-2026. AGPC is currently developing an ESG Strategy, running a double materiality assessment 
and using 2022 and 2023 data to develop a Green House Gas (GHG) reduction roadmap with the 
assistance of external consultants.

Reporting boundary for environmental data
All the operations and activities of AGPC are included within the orgnisational boundary for this 
reporting period.

Greenhouse gas emissions
AGPC reports its greenhouse gas emissions broken down into emissions ‘scopes’ consistent with 
national and international reporting standards. Scope 1 emissions are from sources that AGPC owns 
or controls, such as burning fossil fuels in company vehicles or machinery. Scope 2 emissions are 
indirect emissions from AGPC’s use of electricity from the grid, AGPC has made a significant reduction 
in emissions in this category by the procurement of 100% Certified Green power which has resulted in 
a saving of 86.94 Tonnes CO2 e. Scope 3 emissions are indirect emissions from sources AGPC does not 
control but does influence. Please note that AGPC carbon footprint is done in line with GHG Protocol. 
Please note that event emissions have not been included here.

INDICATOR (in Tonnes CO2-e) 2024 2023
Scope 1: Fugitive Emissions 2.1 2.1
Scope 1: Mobile Combustion 18.3 19.1
Total Scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions (Tonnes CO2-e) 20.4 21.2

Scope 2: Purchased Electricity (100% Certified Green Power in 2024) - 86.9                     
Total Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions (Tonnes CO2-e) - 86.9

Scope 3: Waste generated in operations
Scope 3: Business Travel-Flights (Accommodation not included)
Scope 3: Staff Commuting
Total Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions from commercial air travel 
and waste disposal (Tonnes CO2-e) 

20.4 21.2

Total Organisation GHG Emissions 132.2 223.8
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Electricity production and consumption

INDICATOR (in MWh) 2024 2023

616 St Kilda Road

Total Electricity Consumption (Black Power) - 66.6

Total Electricity Consumption (Green Power) (a) 86.3 37.3

TSY Storage Yard

Total On-site Generation: Solar PV (b) 20.4 29.1

Total Electricity Consumption (Black Power) - 15.8

Total Electricity Consumption (Green Power) (a) 17.7 7.9

Notes:
(a) Scope 2: Purchased electricity equates to 0 as per the procurement of 100% Certified Green Power resulting in a saving of 86.94 Tonnes 
CO2- e for AGPCs over the 2023-2024 period.
(b) This represents electricity generated from Solar PV at TSY storage yard.
(c) Scope 3 fugitive emissions remain the same as the floor space of the office has not changed since the FY23 reporting period.

Waste and recycling
Waste management and recycling are key priorities for AGPC. Focus areas include efforts to 
eliminate single-use plastics, as well as maximise recycling and minimise waste sent to landfill. Over 
the reporting period AGPC engaged an external consultancy to conduct an extensive waste audit 
to highlight areas of opportunity and support the roll out of new waste infrastructure in the office.

INDICATOR (in kgs) 2024 2023

616 St Kilda Road

General Waste 3,603 3,360

Commingle Recycling 468 468

Cardboard 400 312

E-Waste 379 139

General Waste Bulk Collection(a) 2,050 2,050

TSY Storage Yard

General Waste(a) 2,060 2,060

Notes:
(a) Same figures year on year due to invoicing based on maximum weight and frequency of waste collection with no data available on the 
actual weight collected.
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L. �ASSET MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTABILITY FRAMEWORK (AMAF) MATURITY ASSESSMENT

The following sections summarise AGPC’s assessment of maturity against the requirements of the 
Asset Management Accountability Framework (AMAF). The AMAF is a non-prescriptive, devolved 
accountability model of asset management that requires compliance with 41 mandatory 
requirements. These requirements can be found on the DTF website.

AGPC’s target maturity rating is ‘competence’, meaning systems and processes fully in place, 
consistently applied and systematically meeting the AMAF requirement, including a continuous 
improvement process to expand system performance above AMAF minimum requirements.

 Target

 Overall

LEGEND
STATUS SCALE
Not Applicable N/A
Innocence 0
Awareness 1
Developing 2
Competence 3
Optimising 4
Unassessed U/A
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Leadership and Accountability (requirements 1-19)
AGPC has met or exceeded its target maturity level under most requirements within this category.

AGPC is partially compliant with some requirements in the areas of establishing and optimising a 
dedicated Asset Information Management System in a centralised location. There is no material 
non-compliance reported in this category. A plan for improvement is in place to improve AGPC’s 
maturity rating in these areas.

Planning & Acquisition (requirements 20-23)
AGPC is working towards its target maturity level under the requirements within this category. A plan 
for improvement is in place to achieve the desired maturity level.

Acquisition (requirements 24 and 25)
AGPC has met its target maturity level in this category.

Operation (requirements 26-40)
AGPC is working towards its target maturity level under the requirements within this category. A plan 
for improvement is in place to achieve the desired maturity level.

Disposal (requirement 41)
AGPC has met and exceeded its target maturity level in this category.

 
M. �ATTESTATION FOR FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT COMPLIANCE WITH STANDING DIRECTION 5.1.4

I, the Hon. Martin Pakula, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify that the Australian Grand 
Prix Corporation has no Material Compliance Deficiency with respect to the applicable Standing 
Directions under the Financial Management Act 1994 and Instructions.

Hon. Martin Pakula
Chairman
Australian Grand Prix Corporation
18 October 2024 
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N. DISCLOSURE INDEX

The Annual Report of the entity is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations and 
pronouncements. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the entity’s compliance 
with statutory disclosure requirements.

LEGISLATION REQUIREMENT PAGE
Standing Directions and Financial Reporting Directions
Report of Operations
Charter and Purpose
FRD 22 Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 19
FRD 22 Purpose, functions, powers and duties 19
FRD 22 Nature and range of services provided 19
Management & Structure
FRD 22 Organisational structure 21
Financial & other information
FRD 10 Disclosure index 49
FRD 12 Disclosure of major contracts 42
FRD 22 Employment and conduct principles 31
FRD 22 Occupational health and safety policy 33
FRD 22 Summary of the financial results for the year 36
FRD 22 Significant changes in financial position during the year 36
FRD 22 Major changes or factors affecting performance 36
FRD 22 Subsequent events 94
FRD 22 Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic) 40

FRD 22 Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 
1993 (Vic) 42

FRD 22 Application and operation of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 43
FRD 22 Details of consultancies over $10,000 41
FRD 22 Details of consultancies under $10,000 41
FRD 22 Disclosure of government advertising expenditure 43
FRD 22 Disclosure of ICT expenditure 43
FRD 22 Statement of availability of other information 43

FRD 22 Asset Management Accountability Framework (AMAF) maturity 
assessment 47

FRD 24 Environmental reporting 45
FRD 25 Local Jobs First 42
FRD 29 Workforce data disclosures 31
SD 5.2 Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2 54
Compliance attestation and declaration
SD 5.4.1 Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction 48
SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 4
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Financial Statements
Declaration
SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 54
Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements 54

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Standing Directions 54
SD 5.2.1 Compliance with Model Financial Report 54
Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements(a) 
FRD 11 Disclosure of Ex gratia Expenses 67

FRD 21
Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel 
(Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities)  
in the Financial Report

90

FRD 103 Non-Financial Physical Assets 68
FRD 110 Cash Flow statements 59
FRD 112 Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations 66

FRD 114 Financial Instruments – general government entities and public  
non-financial corporations 78

Note:
(a) References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs do not contain requirements that are in the nature 
of disclosure.

Legislation
Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic) 40
Building Act 1993 (Vic) 42
Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (Vic) 43
Disability Act 2006 (Vic) 44
Local Jobs Act 2003 (Vic) 42
Financial Management Act 1994 (Vic) 48

Dated at Melbourne on 18 October 2024	  	      
Signed in accordance with a resolution of Members

Hon. Martin Pakula
Chairman
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7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HOW THIS REPORT IS STRUCTURED

The Australian Grand Prix Corporation (AGPC) has presented its audited general purpose financial 
statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 in the following structure to provide users with 
the information about AGPC’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

Statement by Members of the Board and Officers 54
Independent Auditor’s Report 55

Financial 
statements

Comprehensive operating statement 57
Balance sheet 58
Cash flow statement 59
Statement of changes in equity 60

Notes to the 
financial 
statements

7.1. About this report 61
The basis on which the financial statements have been prepared and 
compliance with reporting regulations

7.2. Funding delivery of our events 63
Revenue recognised from events, grants and other sources

7.2.1 Income that funds the delivery of our events 63
7.3. The cost of delivering our events 65

Operating expenses of AGPC
7.3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of events 65
7.3.2 Employee benefits 66
7.3.3 Other operating expenses 67
7.4. Key assets available to support event delivery 68

Infrastructure and other key assets to deliver our events
7.4.1 Total buildings, infrastructure and equipment 68
7.5. Other assets and liabilities 72

Working capital balances and other key assets and liabilities
7.5.1 Receivables 72
7.5.2 Payables 73
7.5.3 Deferred income 73
7.6. Financing our operations 74

Borrowings, cash flow information, leases and assets pledged as security
7.6.1 Borrowings 74
7.6.2 Leases 75
7.6.3 Cash flow information and balances 75
7.6.4 Commitments for expenditure 76
7.7. Our capital structure 77

Equity and reserve disclosures
7.7.1 Cash flow hedge reserve 77
7.7.2 Asset revaluation reserve 77
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Notes to the 
financial 
statements 
(continued)

7.8. Risks, contingencies, and valuation judgements 78
Commitments, leases, financial risk management, contingent asset and 
liabilities as well as fair value determination disclosures

7.8.1 Financial instruments specific disclosures 78
7.8.2 Fair value determination 86
7.8.3 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 89
7.9. Other disclosures 90
7.9.1 Ex gratia expenses 90
7.9.2 Responsible persons 90
7.9.3 Remuneration of executives 91
7.9.4 Related parties 92
7.9.5 Remuneration of auditors 93
7.9.6 Subsequent events 94
7.9.7 Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet 

effective
95

7.9.8 Other accounting policies and disclosures 96
7.9.9 Glossary of technical terms 97
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Statement by Members of the Board and Officers
In the opinion of the Members of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer of the Australian Grand Prix Corporation:
(a)  �the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement 

of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes present fairly the financial 
transactions during the year ended 30 June 2024 and the financial position as at 30 June 2024;

(b)  �the financial statements are drawn up in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing 
Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable 
Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including interpretations and 
other mandatory professional reporting requires; and

(c)  �there are no circumstances at the date of signing which would render any particulars in the 
financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

Dated at Melbourne on 18 October 2024.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Members of the Board.

Hon. Martin Pakula 
Chairman

Travis Auld 
Chief Executive Officer

Anthony Connelly  
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of the Board of the Australian Grand Prix Corporation 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Australian Grand Prix Corporation (the 
corporation) which comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2024 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information 
• statement by members of the board and officers. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the corporation as at 30 June 2024 and its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of 
the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Members of 
the Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Members of the Board of the corporation are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Financial Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Members of the 
Board determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Members of the Board are responsible for assessing 
the corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is 
inappropriate to do so. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the corporation’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Members of the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Members of the Board’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the corporation to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Members of the Board regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
22 October 2024 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Comprehensive operating statement 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2024  ($ thousand) 
  2024 2023 

Income from transactions    

Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix 214,937 192,592 
Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 32,983 27,163 
Future Grands Prix 10,870 10,000 

Total income from transactions 7.2.1 258,790 229,755 
Expenses from transactions     

Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix  (223,664) (223,532) 
Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix   (39,821) (41,619) 

Total expenses from transactions 7.3.1 (263,485) (265,151) 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) (4,695) (35,396) 

Other economic flows included in net result    

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments (2) 301 
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-financial assets (139) (5) 

Total other economic flows included in net result (141) 296 

Net result (4,836) (35,100) 
Other economic flows – other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified to net result    

Change in fair value of derivatives recognised through cash flow       7.7.1            
hedge reserve (6,344) 4,279 

Change in physical asset revaluation surplus                                           7.7.2 (1) (16) 

Total other economic flows – other comprehensive income (6,345) 4,263 

Comprehensive result (11,181) (30,837) 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Balance sheet 

As at 30 June 2024 ($ thousand) 
Notes 2024 2023 

Assets    

Financial assets    

Cash and deposits 7.6.3 47,484 49,419 
Receivables 7.5.1 4,777 6,384 
Derivatives 7.8.1.1 7,017 13,364 
Total financial assets 59,278 69,167 
Non-financial assets    

Prepayments  2,697 2,447 
Buildings, infrastructure and equipment 7.4.1 23,318 24,014 
Intangible assets  109 154 
Total non-financial assets 26,124 26,615 
Total assets 85,402 95,782 
Liabilities    

Payables 7.5.2 12,322 10,558 
Borrowings 7.6.1 2,765 2,467 
Employee related provisions 7.3.2.2 1,606 1,217 
Deferred income 7.5.3 4,527 5,845 
Total liabilities 21,220 20,087 
Net assets 64,182 75,695 
Equity    

Contributed capital  10,739 10,739 
Cash flow hedge reserve 7.7.1 7,017 13,361 
Asset revaluation reserve 7.7.2 17,645 17,646 
Accumulated surplus  28,781 33,949 
Net worth 64,182 75,695 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Cash flow statement 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2024 ($ thousand) 
Notes  2024 2023 

Cash flows from operating activities   

Receipts   

Receipts from customers, sponsors and commercial entities 140,183 125,672 
Interest received 3,364 2,191 
Government contributions – Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix 105,785 101,365 
Government contributions – Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 10,395 12,122 
Government contributions – Future Grands Prix 11,957 11,000 
Government contributions – Non-current 13,024 6,072 
Total receipts 284,708 258,422 
Payments   

Payments to suppliers and employees (a) (293,202) (268,951) 
Goods and services tax paid to the ATO (b) 11,573 9,354 
Total payments (281,629) (259,597) 
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities  7.6.3.1 3,079 (1,175) 
Cash flows from investing activities     

Payments for other financial assets   (65,753) (78,040) 
Redemption of other financial assets   65,712 78,108 
Payments for Grand Prix infrastructure, equipment 
intangibles 

and  (4,083) (3,778) 

Proceeds from the sale of equipment   13 1 
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (4,111) (3,709) 
Cash flows from financing activities   

Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities (901) (659) 
Realised foreign exchange gain/(loss) (2) 301 
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (903) (358) 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,935) (5,242) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 49,419 54,661 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year  7.6.3 47,484 49,419 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

Notes: 
(a) Interest of leases is presented in operating activities. 
(b) Goods and services tax (GST) paid to the Australian Taxation Office is presented on a net basis. 
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Statement of changes in equity 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2024 ($ thousand) 
 
 
 

Notes 

Cash 
flow 

hedge 
reserve 

 
Asset 

revaluation 
reserve 

 
 

Contributed 
capital 

 
 

Accumulated 
surplus 

 
 
 

Total 
Balance at 1 July 2022  9,082 17,662 10,739 69,032 106,515 
Net result for the year  - - - (35,100) (35,100) 
Change in fair value of 7.7.1 4,279 - - - 4,279 
derivatives recognised       

through cash flow hedge       

reserve       
hedging       

Change in asset 
revaluation reserve 

7.7.2 - (16) - - (16) 

Retrospective adjustment 
on prior year 

 - - - 16 16 

Balance at 30 June 2023  13,361 17,646 10,739 33,949 75,695 
Balance at 1 July 2023  13,361  17,646   10,739   33,949   75,695  
Net result for the year     (4,836) (4,836) 
Change in fair value of 7.7.1 (6,344)    (6,344) 
derivatives recognised       

through cash flow hedge       

reserve       

Change in asset 
revaluation reserve 

7.7.2  (1)   (1) 

Retrospective adjustment 
on prior year 

    (332) (332) 

Balance at 30 June 2024  7,017 17,645 10,739 28,781 64,182 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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7.1 About this report 
 

Australian Grand Prix Corporation (AGPC) is a 
statutory authority established pursuant to the 
Australian Grands Prix Act 1994 (as amended) 
(“AGP Act”). 

Its principal address is: 
Australian Grand Prix Corporation 
Level 5, 616 St Kilda Road 
Melbourne VIC 3004 

 
Basis of preparation 

AGPC is subject to the direction and control of 
the Minister administering the AGP Act. At the 
time of this report this was the Minister for 
Tourism, Sport and Major Events, Steve 
Dimopoulos MP. 

These financial statements are in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of 
AGPC, and the historical cost convention is used unless a different measurement basis is specifically 
disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a different basis. 

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements 
whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to 
which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, 
contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not 
form part of the income and expenses of AGPC. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being 
presented. The significant judgements made in the preparation of these financial statements are 
disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision, and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. Judgements made by management in the application of Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASs) that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates, 
with a risk of material adjustments in the subsequent reporting period, are disclosed throughout the 
notes to the financial statements under the heading “Significant judgements or estimates”. 

All amounts in the financial statements (including the notes) have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

A number of transactions, including portions of revenue received from customers and expenses paid 
to suppliers, have been treated as deferred revenue, prepaid expenses or otherwise treated in 
accordance with the requirements of relevant accounting standards as they relate specifically to 
obligations to be undertaken or performed at a future event. 

AGPC, having made appropriate enquiries, have a reasonable expectation that AGPC has the 
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, it continues to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. 
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Compliance information 

AGPC’s financial statements are a general-purpose financial report which has been prepared 
in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable AASs which 
include interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 

In complying with AASs, AGPC has, where relevant, applied those paragraphs applicable to 
not-for-profit entities. Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which 
ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and 
reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is 
reported. 

To gain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of terms 
and style conventions can be found in Note 7.9.9. 

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Chairman of the Board on 
18 October 2024.
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7.3.2 Employee benefits 
 

7.3.2.1 Employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement 
($ thousand) 

Notes 2024 2023 
Salaries and wages, annual leave and long service 
leave 

 14,973  12,399 

Superannuation contributions  1,396  1,137 
Termination benefits  274  122 
Total employee benefits expense  16,643  13,658 

Employee expenses are recognised when incurred. These expenses include all costs related to 
employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination 
payments and WorkCover premiums. 

Superannuation contributions are made by AGPC to an employee superannuation fund and are 
charged as expenses when incurred. 

 
7.3.2.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave 
and long service leave (LSL) for services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense 
during the period the services are delivered. 

Provisions are recognised when AGPC has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic 
benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The amount 
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date, considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, the 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time 
value of money and risks specific to the provision. 

($ thousand) 
2024 2023 

Current provisions:   

Annual leave(a)   

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 936 698 
   
Long service leave(a)   

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 66 59 
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months(b) 197 176 
Provisions for on-costs   

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 179 157 
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 35 31 
Total current provisions for employee benefits 1,413 1,121 
Non-current provisions:   

Employee benefits – long service leave(b) 164 82 
On-costs 29 14 
Total non-current provisions for employee benefits 193 96 
Total provisions for employee benefits 1,606 1,217 

Notes: 
(a) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees, not 

including on-costs. 
(b) Employee benefit amounts disclosed are discounted to present values. 
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Wages and salaries and annual leave: Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits and annual leave are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, 
because AGPC does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities. 

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, and 
annual leave are measured at: 
• nominal value - if AGPC expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 
• present value - if AGPC does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months. 

Long Service Leave (LSL): Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability; even where AGPC does not expect to settle the 
liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement 
should an employee take leave within 12 months. 

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at: 
• nominal value – component that AGPC expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 
• present value – component that AGPC does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months 

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is a conditional right to defer the settlement 
of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. The non-current 
liability is measured at present value. 

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of the non-current LSL liability is recognised 
as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates, 
for which it is then recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ (refer Note 7.9.9). 

Employee benefits on-costs such as payroll tax, worker’s compensation and superannuation are 
recognised separately from the provision for employee benefits. 

 
7.3.3 Other operating expenses 

($ thousand) 
Notes 2024 2023 

Rental expenses  2,736 2,828 
Fair value assets and services provided free of charge to  655 22,818 
Parks Victoria    

Ex gratia expense 7.9.1 274 122 
Bad and doubtful debts  (384) 382 
Total other operating expenses 3,281 26,150 

 
Ex gratia expenses are the voluntary payments of money or other non-monetary benefit (e.g. a write 
off) that is not made either to acquire goods, services or other benefits for the entity or to meet a 
legal liability, or to settle or resolve a possible legal liability of or claim against the entity (refer Note 
7.9.1). 

 
Fair value of assets and services provided free of charge to Parks Victoria are works undertaken by 
AGPC within the Albert Park reserve of a capital/asset nature. As the Albert Park reserve is under 
the control of Parks Victoria, the assets are transferred to Parks Victoria free of charge once they 
are completed or installed. 
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7.4 Key assets available to support event delivery 
 

Introduction 
AGPC controls infrastructure and equipment as 
well as cash that are utilised in fulfilling its 
objectives. They represent the resources that 
are entrusted to AGPC to be utilised for the 
delivery of the events. 

Structure 
7.4.1 Total buildings, infrastructure and 
equipment .......................................................... 68

 
7.4.1 Total buildings, infrastructure and equipment 

Refer to Note 7.8.2 for additional information on fair value determination of infrastructure and 
equipment. 

 
Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation ($ thousand) 

Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying 
amount  depreciation  amount 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
Buildings – right-of-use assets at fair 
value(a) 

 5,392  4,445  (3,302) (2,403)  2,090  2,042 

Property, plant and equipment – right-of- 
use assets at fair value 

 236  236  (157) (105)  79  131 

Equipment at fair value  5,156  4,299  (3,953) (3,574)  1,203  725 
Grand Prix infrastructure at fair value  23,380  21,313  (5,037) (2,492)  18,343  18,822 
Work in progress at cost  1,603  2,294  -    -  1,603  2,294 
Net carrying amount  35,767  32,587  (12,449) (8,574) 23,318 24,014 

Notes: 
(a) Buildings at fair value comprise of AGPC’s office and storage leases. 

 
Total right-of-use assets: buildings and property, plant and equipment ($ thousand) 

Gross carrying 
amount 

2024 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

2024 

Net carrying 
amount 

2024 
Buildings at fair value  5,392   (3,302)  2,090  
Property, plant and equipment at fair value  236   (157)  79  
Net carrying amount 5,628 (3,459) 2,169 

 
 
 

Buildings 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 

Opening balance - 1 July 2023 2,042 131 
Additions 947 - 
Depreciation (899) (52) 
Closing balance - 30 June 2024 2,090 79 
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Initial recognition: Items of non-financial physical assets are measured initially at cost and 
subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset 
is received for no or nominal cost, the cost is the asset’s fair value at the date of acquisition. The cost 
of non-financial physical assets constructed includes the cost of all materials used in construction, 
direct labour on the project, and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. All fixed 
capital works constructed within Albert Park have been transferred to a third party, Parks Victoria, 
free of charge, in accordance with the license agreements. 
 
Refer to Note 7.3.3 for additional information on other operating expenses. 

 
Right-of-use asset acquired by lessees – Initial measurement: AGPC recognises a right-of-use asset 
and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of use asset is initially measured at 
cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for: 
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentive 

received; plus 
• any initial direct costs incurred; and 
• an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying 

asset or the site on which it is located. 
 

Subsequent measurement: The fair value of infrastructure and equipment is normally determined by 
reference to the asset’s current replacement cost. For equipment, existing depreciated historical 
cost is generally a reasonable proxy for the current replacement cost because of the short lives of 
the assets concerned. 

 
Right-of-use asset – Subsequent measurement: AGPC depreciates the right-of-use assets on a 
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of 
the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The right-of-use assets are also subject to 
revaluation. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

 
Separation of lease and non-lease components: At inception or on reassessment of a contract that 
contains a lease component, the lessee is required to separate out and account separately for non-
lease components within a lease contract and exclude these amounts when determining the lease 
liability and right-of-use asset amount. 

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets: AGPC assesses impairment of all assets at each 
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to AGPC and to the particular asset that may lead 
to impairment. These may include asset performance, economic and political environments and 
future expectations. Given the specific nature of AGPC’s assets, management has tested assets for 
impairment in this financial period. No impairment of assets was identified. 

 
Refer to Note 7.8.2 for additional information on fair value determination of infrastructure and 
equipment. 
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Depreciation charge for the period ($ thousand) 
 

 
2024 

Formula 1®  
Grand Prix 

 
2023 

Motorcycle 
Grand Prix  

2023-2024 
Financial 

year 
Total 

 
2023 

Formula 1®  
Grand Prix 

 
2022 

Motorcycle 
Grand Prix  

2022-2023 
Financial 

year 
Total 

Buildings – right-of- 
use assets at fair 

899 - 899 622 - 622 

value(a)       
Property, plant and 52 - 52 52 - 52 
equipment – right-of-       

use assets at fair       

value       
Equipment at fair 
value 

284 95 379 161 53 214 

Grand Prix 2,525 77 2,602 2,220 67 2,287 
infrastructure at fair       

value       

Total depreciation 3,760 172 3,932 3,055 120 3,175 
 

All items of infrastructure equipment that have finite useful lives are depreciated. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual 
value, over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, and adjustments made when necessary. 

AGPC’s management, with the assistance of the Valuer-General Victoria (independent valuation 
agency), determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its infrastructure 
and equipment. Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than 
previously estimated useful lives or will write-off or write-down obsolete assets or those that are no 
longer considered useful. 

 
The following are typical useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years. 

(year) 
Asset 2024 2023 
Buildings: Right-of-use assets 5 to 9 5 to 9 
Equipment: Right-of-use assets 5 to 9 5 to 9 
Equipment 3 to 5 3 to 5 
Grand Prix™ infrastructure 3 to 50 3 to 50 
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7.5 Other assets and liabilities 
 

Introduction 
This section sets out those assets and liabilities 
that arose from AGPC’s controlled operations. 

Structure 
7.5.1 Receivables .............................. 72 
7.5.2 Payables… ................................ 73 
7.5.3 Deferred income ...................... 73

7.5.1 Receivables 
($ thousand) 

2024 2023 
Contractual   

Trade receivables  2,257  5,086 
Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables  (90) (562) 
Net trade receivables  2,167  4,524 
Other receivables  1,445  1,054 
Statutory   
GST input tax credit recoverable 1,165 806 
Total receivables 4,777 6,384 
Represented by 
Current receivables 

 
4,777 

 
6,384 

 
Receivables consist predominantly of debtors in relation to goods and services. 

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as “financial assets 
at amortised costs”. They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. AGPC holds the contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash 
flows and therefore subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment. 

Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and are recognised and measured similarly to 
contractual receivables (except for impairment) but are not classified as financial instruments for 
disclosure purposes. AGPC applies AASB 9 for initial measurement of statutory receivables, which are 
initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 

 
Details about AGPC’s impairment policies, AGPC’s exposure to credit risk, and the calculation of the 
loss allowance are set out in Note 7.8.1. 

54 
Australian G
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7.5.2 Payables 
($ thousand) 

2024 2023 
Contractual   

Supplies and other services 12,177 10,409 
Statutory   
Fringe Benefits Tax payable 76 150 
Other taxes payable 69 (1) 
Total payables 12,322 10,558 
Represented by:   

Current payables 12,322 10,558 
 

Payables consist of: 
• contractual payables, such as accounts payable, are classified as financial instruments, and 

measured at amortised cost (refer to Note 7.8.1 for further details). Accounts payable represents 
liabilities for goods or services provided to AGPC prior to the end of the financial year that are 
unpaid, and arise when AGPC becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the 
purchases of goods and services; and 

• statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables, are 
recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial 
instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because 
they do not arise from a contract. 

Payables for supplies and services have a credit period of 30 days from date of invoice unless 
otherwise contractually agreed. 

 
The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for AGPC’s contractual financial 
liabilities. 

 
Maturity analysis of contractual payables (a)(b) 

($ thousand) 
Maturity dates 

 Carrying 
amount 

Nominal 
amount 

Less than 
1 month 

1-3 
months 

3 months– 
1 year 

2024 Payables 12,177 12,177 10,844 1,131 202 
2023 Payables 10,409 10,409 10,266 - 143 

Notes: 
(a) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
(b)  Nature and extent of risks arising from contractual payables. Refer to Note 7.8.1.3 for the nature and extent of risks arising from 

contractual payables. 
 

7.5.3 Deferred income 
($ thousand) 

2024 2023 
Current 
Advance commercial income         4,527 

 
5,845 

Total deferred income 4,527 5,845 
 

Income is deferred where AGPC has a contractual obligation to deliver specified goods or services 
that are enforceable and sufficiently specific in relation to performance obligations. The extent to 
which performance obligations have been met dictates the amount of income to recognise or defer 
to a future period. 
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7.6 Financing our operations 
 

Introduction 
This section provides information on the 
sources of finance utilised by AGPC during its 
operations, and other information relating to 
financing activities of AGPC. 

Structure 
7.6.1 Borrowings… ........................................ 74 
7.6.2 Leases… ............................................... 75 
7.6.3 Cash flow information and 

balances ............................................. 75 
7.6.4 Commitments for expenditure… ...... 76

7.6.1 Borrowings 
($ thousand) 

2024 2023 
Current borrowings   
Lease liabilities 622 893 
Total current borrowings 622 893 

Non-current borrowings   

Lease liabilities 2,143 1,574 
Total non-current borrowing 2,143 1,574 
Total borrowings 2,765 2,467 

 
Borrowings recognised on the balance sheet is entirely made up of lease liabilities. 

 
Recognition and measurement of leases as a lessee 

Lease Liability – initial measurement 
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily 
determinable or AGPC’s incremental borrowing rate. 

 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentive receivable. 

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral 
part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s 
nature or form or the timing of payments. The aggregate costs of incentives are recognised as a 
reduction of rental expenses over the term on a straight-line basis, unless another more systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. 

 
Lease Liability – subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased 
for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in- 
substance fixed payments. 

 
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use 
asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero. 
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7.6.2 Leases 
 

Right-of-use assets are presented in Note 7.4.1 as buildings at fair value and equipment at fair value. 

Lease amounts recognised in the comprehensive operating statement 
($ thousand) 

2024 2023 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 108 80 
Expenses relating to short-term leases 2,735 3,322 
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 1 1 
Total amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement 2,844 3,403 

 
Lease amounts recognised in the cash flow statement 

($ thousand) 
2024 2023 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 108 80 
Expenses relating to short-term leases 3,664 3,322 
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 1 1 
Total amount recognised in the cash flow statement 3,773 3,403 

 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

AGPC has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of land 
and building used in circuit hire arrangements that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases 
of low-value assets, including Albert Park, Phillip Island and the surrounding land. AGPC has 
determined that the non-cancellable term of these leases (representing the period of use) is 12 
months or less, and thus elects to apply the recognition exemption for these short-term leases. AGPC 
recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line bases 
over the lease term. 

 
Leases at significantly below-market terms and conditions 

AGPC has elected to recognise leases at significantly below-market terms and conditions 
(peppercorn leases) at their nominal value as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The principal activities of AGPC depend on peppercorn leases, in particular the arrangements for 
the Formula 1® show car and Albert Park circuit hire. The underlying assets in these leases are the 
show car hire, the land and relevant sport halls are used to facilitate the provision of the annual 
FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024. The nominal lease payment on the Formula 1® 

show car hire is $2 with no defined end date and the sports hall component of the Albert Park lease 
is $1,000 with a remaining lease term of 1 year. 

 
7.6.3 Cash flow information and balances 

($ thousand) 
2024 2023 

Cash at call 47,484 49,419 
Balance as per cash flow statement 47,484 49,419 

 
 

Cash and deposits recognised on the balance sheet is comprised of cash at bank. 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily convertible to cash on 
hand and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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7.6.3.1 Reconciliation of net result for the period to cash flow from operating activities 
($ thousand) 

2024 2023 
Net result for the period (4,836) (35,100) 
Non-cash movements   

Capital works transferred to Parks Victoria 655 22,818 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets 139 (5) 
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current and intangible assets 3,961 3,288 
Impairment of receivables (90) (562) 
Net (gain)/loss on financial instruments 2 (301) 
Movements in assets and liabilities   

Decrease/(Increase) in receivables and prepayments 1,267 4,371 
(Decrease)/Increase in payables 2,820 2,797 
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions 479 199 
(Decrease)/Increase in deferred income (1,318) 1,320 
Net cash flows used in operating activities (3,079) (1,175) 

 
7.6.4 Commitments for expenditure 

AGPC has commitments associated with foreign exchange forward contracts (refer Note 7.8.1). 
AGPC has not disclosed the gross payable and receivable value of foreign currency contracts, nor 
has it disclosed operational and capital commitments as it is exempt under Section 49 of the 
Australian Grands Prix Act 1994. 
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7.7 Our capital structure 
 

Introduction 
This section provides information on the capital 
structure of AGPC as well as any reserves that 
arose from its operations. 

Structure 

7.7.1 Cash flow hedge reserve ........ 77 
7.7.2 Asset revaluation reserve… ..... 77

7.7.1 Cash flow hedge reserve 
($ thousand) 

2024 2023 
Cash flow hedge reserve at the beginning of the year 13,361 9,082 
Change in fair value of derivatives recognised through cash flow hedge 
reserve 

(6,344) 4,279 

Deferred gain/(loss) on foreign exchange hedging - - 
Cash flow hedge reserve at the end of the year 7,017 13,361 

 
Foreign currency translation differences are recognised in ‘other economic flows’ and 
accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in the period in which they arise. 

 
7.7.2 Asset revaluation reserve 

($ thousand) 
2024 2023 

Asset revaluation reserve at the beginning of the year 17,646 17,662 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) - (16) 
Write back on disposal of assets (1) - 
Asset revaluation reserve at the end of the year 17,645 17,646 

 
Revaluation increases and decreases arise from differences between an asset’s carrying value and 
fair value. 

Net revaluation increases (where the carrying amount of a class of assets is increased as a result of 
a revaluation) are recognised in ‘Other economic flows – comprehensive income’ and 
accumulated in equity under the asset revaluation reserve. 
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7.8 Risks, contingencies, and valuation judgements 
 

Introduction 
AGPC is exposed to risk from its activities and 
outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary 
to make judgements and estimates associated 
with recognition and measurement of items in 
the financial statements. This section sets out 
financial instrument specific information, 
(including exposures to financial risks) as well as 
those items that are contingent in nature or 
require a higher level of judgement to be 
applied, which for AGPC relate mainly to fair 
value determination. 

 
7.8.1 Financial instruments specific disclosures  

Structure 
7.8.1 Financial instruments specific 

disclosures………………………………..78 
7.8.2 Fair value judgements………………… 86 
7.8.3 Contingent assets and contingent 

liabilities………………………………….. 89

Introduction 
 
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one 
entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of AGPC’s 
activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. 
Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 
132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets 
and financial liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance with AASB 
132 and those that do not. 

 
Categories of financial instruments 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following criteria are met and the 
assets are not designated as fair value through net result: 
• the assets are held by AGPC to collect the contractual cash flows; and 
• the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interests. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. 

 
AGPC recognises the following assets in this category: 
• cash and deposits; and 
• receivables (excluding statutory receivables). 

 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when their fair value is positive 
and as financial liabilities when their fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of derivatives after initial recognition are recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement as other comprehensive income. Upon disposal of these derivative instruments, any 
related balance in the fair value reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 
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From time-to-time certain derivative financial instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting, 
notwithstanding that the derivatives are held to hedge identified exposures. Any changes in the fair 
value of a derivative instrument or part of a derivative instrument that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are classified as ‘ineffective’ and recognised immediately in the comprehensive 
operating statement. 

 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 

 
Other financial assets and liabilities are required to be measured at fair value through net result unless 
they are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income as explained 
above. 

However, as an exception to those rules above, AGPC may, at initial recognition, irrevocably 
designate financial assets as measured at fair value through net result if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (‘accounting mismatch’) that 
would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them 
on different bases. 

 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are 
initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between 
the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the 
period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method. AGPC recognises the 
following liabilities in this category: 
• payables (excluding statutory payables); 
• borrowings (including lease liabilities) 

Offsetting financial instruments: Financial instrument assets and liabilities are offset, and the net 
amount is presented in the balance sheet when, and only when, AGPC has the legal right to offset 
the amounts and intend either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

 
Derecognition of financial assets: A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset have expired, or AGPC retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but 
has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass 
through’ arrangement, or AGPC has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or transferred control of the asset. 

Where AGPC has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred 
control, the asset is recognised to the extent of AGPC’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

 
Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged, cancelled, or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the 
comprehensive operating statement. 
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7.8.1.1 Financial instruments: Categorisation 
($ thousand) 

 
 
 

 
2024 

Contractual 
financial 

assets/liabilities 
designated at fair 

value through OCI 

 
Contractual 

financial assets 
at amortised 

cost 

 
Contractual 

financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost 

 
 
 

 
Total 

Contractual financial assets     

Cash and deposits - 47,484 - 47,484 
Receivables (a)     
Trade and other receivables - 3,702 - 3,702 
Financial derivatives(b) 7,017 - - 7,017 
Total contractual financial 
assets 

7,017 51,186 - 58,203 

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables (a)     

Trade and other payables - - 12,177 12,177 
Lease liabilities - - 2,765 2,765 
Total contractual financial 
liabilities 

- - 14,942 14,942 

 
 
 
 

 
2023 

Contractual 
financial 

assets/liabilities 
designated at fair 

value through OCI 

 
Contractual 

financial assets 
at amortised 

cost 

 
Contractual 

financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost 

 
 
 

 
Total 

Contractual financial assets     

Cash and deposits - 49,419 - 49,419 
Receivables (a)     
Trade and other receivables - 6,141 - 6,141 
Financial derivatives(b) 13,364 - - 13,364 
Total contractual financial 
assets 

13,364 55,560 - 68,924 

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables (a) 
    

Trade and other payables - - 10,409 10,409 
Lease liabilities - - 2,467 2,467 
Total contractual financial 
liabilities 

- - 12,876 12,876 

Notes: 
(a) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input 

tax credit recoverable and taxes payable). 
(b) Foreign exchange contracts were entered into at the request of the Victorian Government’s Department of Treasury and 

Finance and are held with Treasury Corporation of Victoria. 
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7.8.1.2 Financial instruments – Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category 
 

($ thousand) 
Net holding 

2024 gain/(loss) 
Total interest 

income/(expense) 
 

Total 
Contractual financial assets 
Financial assets at amortised cost 

 
- 

 
3,364 

 
3,364 

Derivatives at fair value through net result (6,344) - (6,344) 
Hedge ineffectiveness (2) - (2) 
Total contractual financial assets (6,346) 3,364 (2,982) 

  
Net holding 

 
Total interest 

 

Net holding 
2024 gain/(loss) 

Total interest 
income/(expense) 

 
Total 

Contractual financial assets 
Financial assets at amortised cost 

 
- 

 
2,191 

 
2,191 

Derivatives at fair value through net result 4,279 - 4,279 
Hedge ineffectiveness (1)       - (1) 
Total contractual financial assets 4,278 2,191 6,469 

 
The net holding gains or losses disclosed above are determined as follows: 
• for cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at amortised cost and debt instruments that are 

classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, the net gain or 
loss is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, the interest income, plus 
or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from revaluation of the financial assets, and 
minus any impairment recognised in the net result; 

• for financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the 
interest expense, plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from the revaluation of 
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and 

• for financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, the net gain or 
loss is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the financial asset or liability. 

 
7.8.1.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies 

 

 
As a whole, AGPC’s financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks and the 
associated volatility of its financial performance. 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are 
recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability and derivative instrument 
are disclosed in Note 7.8.1 and throughout the financial statements in relevant notes. 

 
The main purpose of holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage AGPC’s financial risks 
within government policy parameters. 

 
AGPC’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including interest rate risk, foreign exchange 
risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. AGPC has determined that the most significant 

Financial risks 

Credit risk Liquidity risk Market risk 
 

Foreign currency 
risk 

Interest rate risk 
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of these is foreign exchange risk. AGPC manages these financial risks in accordance with the 
financial risk policy. 

 
AGPC uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. Primary 
responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks rests with the Audit, Finance 
and Risk Committee of AGPC. 

 
Financial instruments: Credit risk 

 
Credit risk arises from contractual financial assets of AGPC, which comprise cash and deposits, non-
statutory receivables, and derivative instruments. Credit risk represents the loss that would be 
recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted. Credit risk is measured at fair value and 
is monitored on a regular basis. 

 
Credit risk associated with AGPC’s contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor 
is the Victorian Government. For debtors other than Government, it is AGPC’s policy to only deal with 
creditworthy counterparties. Credit risk is controlled through AGPC’s risk management policies which 
deal with credit exposure limits and counterparty limits. 

 
Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised through the application of the 
expected credit loss model. AGPC uses a provision matrix that calculates expected future losses 
based on historical loss rates on trade receivables balances 

Contract financial assets are written off against the carrying amount when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery. Loss allowance written off by mutual consent is classified as a transaction 
expense. Loss allowance written off following a unilateral decision is recognised as other economic 
flows in the net result. 

 
The maximum credit risk exposure on foreign currency contracts is the full amount of the foreign 
currency AGPC pays when settlement occurs should the counterparty fail to pay the amount which 
it is committed to pay to AGPC. 

As AGPC transacts all foreign currency contracts with the Treasury Corporation of Victoria the credit 
risk is minimal. 

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired (a) 

($ thousand) 
 
 
 
2024 

Financial 
institutions 
(double-A 

credit rating) 

Government 
agencies 
(double-A 

credit rating) 

 
Other 

(min triple-B 
credit rating) 

 
 
 

Total 
Cash and deposits 47,484   47,484 
Receivables (a)   3,702 3,702 
Total contractual financial assets 47,484  3,702 51,186 

 
 
 
 
2023 

Financial 
institutions 
(double-A 

credit rating) 

Government 
agencies 

(double-A 
credit rating) 

 
Other 

(min triple-B 
credit rating) 

 
 
 

Total 
Cash and deposits 49,419 - - 49,419 
Receivables (a) - - 6,141 6,141 
Total contractual financial assets 49,419 - 6,141 55,560 

Notes: 
(a) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input 

tax credit recoverable). 
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Impairment of financial assets under AASB 9 

AGPC has been recording the allowance for expected credit loss for the relevant financial 
instruments using AASB 9’s Expected Credit Loss approach. Subject to AASB 9 impairment assessment 
include AGPC’s contractual receivables, statutory receivables and its investment in debt instruments. 

Derivative instruments are not subject to impairment under AASB 9. Other financial assets mandatorily 
measured or designated at fair value through profit and loss are not subject to impairment 
assessment under AASB 9. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment 
requirements of AASB 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial. 

 
Contractual receivables at amortised cost 

 
AGPC applies AASB 9 simplified approach for all contractual receivables to measure expected 
credit losses using a lifetime expected loss allowance based on the assumptions about risk of default 
and expected loss rates. AGPC has grouped contractual receivables on shared credit risk 
characteristics and days past due and select the expected credit loss rate based on AGPC’s past 
history, existing market conditions, as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of the financial 
year. 

On this basis, AGPC’s opening and closing balances in relation to loss allowance are as follows: 
 

30 June 2024 
Current Less than 

1 month 
1–2 
months 

2-3 
months 

3-4 
months 

Over 4 
months 

Total 

Expected loss rate 
Gross carrying amount of 

1% 3% 5% 8% 13% 90%  

contractual receivables (a) 2,734 643 104 100 109 18 3,708(b) 

Loss allowance 27 19 5 8 14 17 90 
 

30 June 2023 
Current Less than 

1 month 
1–2 
months 

2-3 
months 

3-4 
months 

Over 4 
months 

Total 

Expected loss rate 
Gross carrying amount of 

1% 3% 5% 8% 13% 90%  

contractual receivables (a) 650 2,586 1,514 23 3 444 5,220(b) 

Loss allowance 7 77 76 2 0 400 562 
Notes: 
(a) Contractual receivables do not include those receivables that have been fully provided as doubtful. 2024: $45,455 (2023: 

$67,304). 
(b) The gross carrying amount used for the calculation of loss allowance excludes $0 of receivables which had not been 

invoiced at balance date (2023: $285,000). 
 

Contractual receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation for the receivables 
to be recovered and impairment losses are classified as a transaction expense. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item. 

Financial instruments: Market risk 
 

AGPC’s exposures to market risk are primarily through foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. 
Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed below. 

AGPC’s sensitivity to market risk is determined based on the observed range of actual historical data 
for the preceding 5-year period, with all variables other than the primary risk variable held constant. 
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Foreign currency risk 

AGPC has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain commitments 
denominated in US dollars. These contracts extend to 2026. Current derivatives relate to forward 
contracts that fall due within the next 12 months and non-current derivatives relate to forward 
contracts that fall due after this date. 

 
These forward foreign exchange contracts have been entered into with full compliance of guidelines 
from, and with the approval of, the Treasurer of Victoria in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 24(2) of the Australian Grands Prix Act 1994. 

 
AGPC has not disclosed the gross value payable and receivable under the foreign currency 
contracts and is exempted from doing so under Section 49 of the Australian Grands Prix Act 1994. 
Disclosure of this information would constitute a breach of the international agreements as defined 
in Note 7.9.8 Other accounting policies and disclosures (Economic dependency). 

 
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and 
management’s knowledge and experience of financial markets, AGPC believes the following 
foreign currency movements are reasonably possible over the next 12 months (base rates are 
sourced from Treasury Corporation of Victoria): a parallel shift of +15 per cent and -15 per cent in 
foreign exchange rates from year-end rates. 

 
AGPC’s sensitivity to foreign currency movements is set out below. 

($ thousand) 
 
2024 

Carrying 
amount 

-15% 
net result 

+15% 
net result 

Derivative assets 7,017 21,820 (3,923) 
Derivative liabilities - - - 
Total derivatives 7,017 21,820 (3,923) 

 
 
2023 

Carrying 
amount 

-15% 
net result 

+15% 
net result 

Derivative assets 13,364 38,550 (5,251) 
Derivative liabilities - - - 
Total derivatives 13,364 38,550 (5,251) 

 
The line item in the comprehensive operating statement in which the hedge ineffectiveness is 
recognised is change in fair value of derivatives recognised through cash flow hedge reserve. 

 
Interest rate risk 

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. AGPC does not hold any interest-bearing financial instruments 
that are measured at fair value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk. 

 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. AGPC manages this risk by monitoring movement in 
interest rates and through using interest-bearing deposits and/or term deposits in order to minimise 
interest rate risk. 

 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rates and 
AGPC’s sensitivity to interest rate risk are set out in the table that follows. 
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($ thousand) 
 

 
2024 

Weighted average 
interest rate (%) 

Carrying 
amount 

Variable 
interest rate 

Non-interest 
bearing 

Financial assets 
Cash and deposits 
Receivables (a) 

 
4.14 

 
47,484 
3,612 

 
47,484 

- 

 
- 

3,612 
Total financial assets  51,096 47,484 3,612 
Financial liabilities 
Lease liabilities 

 
2.95 

 
2,765 

 
2,765 

 
- 

Total financial liabilities  2,765 2,765 - 
 

 
2023 

Weighted Average 
interest rate (%) 

Carrying 
amount 

Variable 
interest rate 

Non-interest 
bearing 

Financial assets 
Cash and deposits 
Receivables (a) 

 
3.19 

 
49,419 
5,578 

 
49,419 

- 

 
- 

5,578 
Total financial assets  54,997 49,419 5,578 
Financial liabilities 
Lease liabilities 

 
2.57 

 
2,467 

 
2,467 

 
- 

Total financial liabilities  2,467 2,467 - 
Notes: 
(a) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input 
tax credit recoverable). 

 
Interest rate sensitivity 

($ thousand) 
2024  

 
 

Carrying 
Amount 

-100 basis points 
Fair value 

through OCI 
revaluation 

Net result reserve 

+100 basis points 
Fair value 

through OCI 
revaluation 

Net result reserve 
Contractual financial assets 
Cash and deposits 

 
47,484 

 
(475) 

  
475 

 
- 

Total impact  (475)  475 - 

Contractual financial liabilities 
Lease liabilities 

 
2,765 

 
(28) 

  
28 

 
- 

Total impact  (28)  28 - 

 
2023  

 
 

Carrying 
Amount 

-100 basis points 
Fair value 

through OCI 
revaluation 

Net result reserve 

+100 basis points 
Fair value 

through OCI 
revaluation 

Net result reserve 
Contractual financial assets 
Cash and deposits 49,419 (494)  494 - 
Total impact  (494)  494 - 
Contractual financial liabilities 
Lease liabilities 2,467 (2)  2 - 
Total impact  (2)  2 - 

 
 



2024 ANNUAL REPORT 
P|86

AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION 69 Australian Grand Prix Corporation Annual Report 2024 

 

7.8.2 Fair value determination 
 

Significant judgement: Fair value measurements of assets and liabilities: 

Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section discloses the 
most significant assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes to assumptions could have a 
material impact on the results and financial position of AGPC. 

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, AGPC determines the policies and procedures for 
both recurring fair value measurements such as infrastructure and equipment and financial 
instruments, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant Financial Reporting 
Directions (FRDs). 

 
Fair value hierarchy 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

 
• level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and 
• level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable. 

AGPC determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, AGPC has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2024 and the comparative information presented for the year ended 30 
June 2023. 
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How this section is structured 
 

For those assets and liabilities for which fair values are determined, the following disclosures are 
provided: 
• carrying amount and the fair value (which would be the same for those assets measured at 

fair value); 
• which level of the fair value hierarchy was used to determine the fair value; and 
• in respect of those assets and liabilities subject to fair value determination using Level 3 inputs: 

o a reconciliation of the movements in fair values from the beginning of the year to the end; 
and 

o details of significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value determination. 

This section is divided between disclosures in connection with fair value determination for financial 
assets and liabilities (refer to Note 7.8.2.1) and non-financial physical assets (refer to Note 7.8.2.2). 

 
7.8.2.1 Fair value determination for financial assets and liabilities 

 
The fair values and net fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 
• level 1 – the fair value of financial instruments with standard terms and conditions and traded 

in active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; 
• level 2 – the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable 

for the financial asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 
• level 3 – the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models 

based on discounted cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs. 

AGPC considers that the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and liabilities recorded in the 
financial statements is a fair approximation of their fair values because of the short- term nature of 
the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full. 

Off–balance sheet financial instruments 
 

AGPC has not disclosed the net fair value payable for forward future commitments under foreign 
exchange forward contracts and is exempted from doing so under Section 49 of the Australian 
Grands Prix Act 1994. Disclosure of this information would constitute a breach of the international 
agreements as defined in Note 7.9.8 Other accounting policies and disclosures (Economic 
dependency). 

7.8.2.2 Fair value determination: Non-financial physical assets 

Fair value measurement hierarchy ($ thousand) 
Fair value measurement at end of reporting 

period using: 
Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 2024 Level 1(a) Level 2(a) Level 3(a) 

Equipment 1,203 - - 1,203 
Grand Prix infrastructure 18,343 - - 18,343 
Closing balance 19,546 - - 19,546 

 
Fair value measurement at end of reporting 

period using: 
Carrying amount 

as at 30 June 2023 Level 1(a) Level 2(a) Level 3(a) 

Equipment 725 - - 725 
Grand Prix infrastructure 18,822 - - 18,822 
Closing balance 19,547 - - 19,547 

Notes: 
(a) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. 
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There have been no transfers between levels during the year. 
 

The next scheduled revaluation will be in the 2025/2026 financial year. 

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the year. (Note: Valuer General Victoria 
is AGPC’s independent valuation agency and is used wherever valuations are required). The valuer 
has advised that the market conditions at the time of the valuation, impacted by inflation, supply 
and demand and construction costs were volatile, creating significant valuation uncertainty. 

 
 

Equipment is held at fair value. When equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other 
than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the current replacement cost method. 

Infrastructure assets are valued using the current replacement cost method when determining their 
fair value. Replacement costs relate to costs to replace the current service capacity of the asset. 
Economic obsolescence has also been factored into the current replacement cost calculation. 

 
For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use. 

 
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements ($ thousand) 

 
 
 

Equipment 

2024 
Grand Prix 

infrastructure 

 
 

Equipment 

2023 
Grand Prix 

infrastructure 
Opening balance 725 18,822 487 19,670 

Purchases/(sales) 857 2,123 446 1,439 
Depreciation (379) (2,602) (210) (2,287) 
Transfer of asset class - - 2 - 

Subtotal 1,203 18,343 725 18,822 
Revaluation - - - - 

Subtotal - - - - 
Closing balance 1,203 18,343 725 18,822 

 
Description of Level 3 valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation 

 

 
Equipment Current 

replacement 
cost 

Cost per unit $500 - 
$750,000 
per unit 

A significant increase or decrease in cost 
per unit would result in a significantly 
higher or lower fair value. 

Useful life of 
equipment 

3 - 5 years A significant increase or decrease in the 
estimated useful life of the asset would 
result in a significantly higher or lower 

 valuation.  
Infrastructure Current 

replacement 
cost 

Cost per unit $500 - 
$464,000 
per unit 

A significant increase or decrease in cost 
per unit would result in a significantly 
higher or lower fair value. 

Useful life of 
infrastructure 

3 – 50 
years 

A significant increase or decrease in the 
estimated useful life of the asset would 
result in a significantly higher or lower 

 valuation.  

Significant 
Valuation unobservable 
technique inputs Range 

Sensitivity of fair value measurement to 
changes in significant unobservable 
inputs 
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7.8.3 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are 
disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are 
presented inclusive of GST. 

Contingent assets 
 

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 
the control of the entity. These are classified as either quantifiable, where the potential economic 
benefit is known, or non-quantifiable. 

There are no contingent assets for the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil). 
 

Contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are: 
• possible obligations that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the entity; or 

• present obligations that arise from past events but are not recognised because: 
o it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 

to settle the obligations; or 
o the amount of the obligations cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either quantifiable or non-quantifiable. 

There are no quantifiable claims for the year ending 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil).
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7.9 Other disclosures 
 

Introduction 
This section includes additional material 
disclosures required by accounting standards or 
otherwise, for the understanding of this financial 
report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
7.9.1 Ex-gratia expenses 

Structure 
7.9.1 Ex gratia expenses……………...……... 90 
7.9.2 Responsible persons…………………... 90 
7.9.3 Remuneration of executives…………. 91 
7.9.4 Related parties…………………………. 92 
7.9.5 Remuneration of auditors…………….. 93 
7.9.6 Subsequent events…………………….. 94 
7.9.7 Australian Accounting Standards issued 

that are not yet effective…………….. 95 
7.9.8 Other accounting policies and 

disclosures……………………………….. 96 
7.9.9 Glossary of technical terms…………... 97

Ex-gratia expenses are the voluntary payments of money or other non-monetary benefit that is not 
made to acquire goods, services or other benefits for AGPC, nor to meet a legal liability, or to settle or 
resolve a possible legal liability or claim against AGPC. 

($ thousand) 
2024 2023 

Employee termination payments 274 122 
Total ex gratia expenses 274 122 
Notes: 
(a) The line item on the comprehensive operating statement for which the expense is recognised in is FORMULA 1 ROLEX 
AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024 expenses from transactions. The line item on the balance sheet for which amounts are payable is 
recognised in payables. 

7.9.2 Responsible persons 
 

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial 
Management Act 1994 (FMA), the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons 
for the reporting period. 

 
Persons who hold the position of Responsible Persons in relation to AGPC during the year are as 
follows: 

 
Responsible Minister 
Steve Dimopoulos MP, 
Minister for Tourism, Sport and Major Events 
 
Accountable Officer  

Mr Travis Auld                                                                            

1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 
 
 
 
 
14 August 2023 to 30 June 2024 
 

Members of the Board 
Mr Paul Little AO (Chair) 1 July 2023 to 16 September 2023 
Hon. Martin Pakula (Chair) 10 October 2023 to 30 June 2024 
Ms Kimberley Brown 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 
Mr Michael Doohan AM 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 
Ms Tal Karp 1 July 2023 to 14 October 2023 
Ms Nicki Kenyon 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 
Mr Paul Lappin 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 
Mr Mark Webber AO 1 July 2023 to 12 November 2023* 
Ms Kate Lundy 1 July 2023 to 22 August 2023 
Mr John O‘Rourke 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 
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Remuneration 

Members of the Board act in an honorary capacity. 

The total remuneration of the Accountable Officer, including superannuation contributions, in 
connection with the management of AGPC during the reporting period was in the range 
$680,000 - $689,999 (2023: $510,000 - $519,999). The remuneration of the Responsible Minister is 
reported within the State’s Annual Financial Report. 

 
Other transactions of responsible persons and their related entities 

 
A total of 112 tickets (retail value: $97k inc. GST) for the 2024 FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND 
PRIX 2024 (2023: 103 tickets) and 58 tickets (retail value: $9k inc. GST) for the 2023 MotoGP™ Guru by 
Gryfyn Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 2023 (2022: 140) were either used by Responsible Persons 
free of charge or were provided to entities related to Responsible Persons under contractual 
obligations. 

 
7.9.3 Remuneration of executives 

The number of executive officers, other than ministers and accountable officers, and their total 
remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee 
equivalents provide a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period. 

 
Remuneration comprises employee benefits (as defined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits) in all forms 
of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on behalf of the entity, in exchange for 
services rendered. Accordingly, remuneration is determined on an accrual basis, and is disclosed in 
the following categories. 

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave 
that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as 
allowances and free or subsidised goods or services. 

 
Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a 
discrete basis when employment has ceased. 

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred 
compensation. 

($ thousand) 
Remuneration of executive officers (excludes CEO) 
(including Key Management Personnel disclosed in Note 

7.9.4)(a) 

 
 

2024 

 
 

2023 
Short-term employee benefits  1,896  1,607 
Post-employment benefits  199  164 
Other long-term benefits  29  25 
Termination benefits  126  103 
Total remuneration (a) 2,250 1,899 
Total number of executives 7 10 
Total annualised employee equivalents (b) 6.97 6.24 

Notes: 
(a) The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the 

entity under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also reported within the related parties note disclosure (Note 7.9.4). 
(b) Annualised employee equivalent is based on the time fraction worked over the reporting period. 



2024 ANNUAL REPORT 
P|92

AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION 75 Australian Grand Prix Corporation Annual Report 2024  

7.9.4 Related parties 
 

AGPC is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of AGPC 
include: 
• all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests 

(controlled entities, joint ventures and entities they have significant influence over); 
• the Portfolio Minister and close family members; 
• the Department of Jobs, Skills, Industry and Regions (DJSIR); 
• the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC); 
• the Department of Transport and Planning (DTP); 
• the Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF); 
• Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV); 
• Parks Victoria (PV); 
• Victoria Police; 
• Ambulance Service Victoria; 
• Victorian Managed Insurance Authority (VMIA); and 
• Fire Rescue Victoria. 

 
Key Management Personnel (KMP) of AGPC includes: 

 
Board members of AGPC Position title 
Paul Little AO Chair (1 July 2023 to 16 September 2023) 
Hon. Martin Pakula Chair (104 October 2023 to current) 
Kimberley Brown Board member 
Michael Doohan AM Board member 
Tal Karp Board member (1 July 2023 to 14 October 2023) 
Nicki Kenyon Board member 
Paul Lappin Board member 
Mark Webber AO(a) Board member (1 July 2023 to 12 November 2023) 
Kate Lundy Board member (1 July 2023 to 22 August 2023) 
John O‘Rourke Board member 

 
Executive Leadership Team Position title 
Travis Auld(b) Chief Executive Officer 
Claire Back(c) General Manager, Marketing & Experience 
Anthony Connelly Chief Financial Officer 
Lex Cran Head of People, Culture and Capability 
Haydn Lane Chief Communications Officer 
Darian Misko General Manager, Sales and Commercial 
Tom Mottram Chief Events Officer 
Dale Nardella Chief Legal Officer 
Matthew Walton(d) General Manager, Design & Construction 

Notes: 
(a) Mark Webber served as an observer from 13 November 2023 to 30 June 2024. 
(b) Travis Auld commenced as CEO on 14 August 2023. 
(c) Claire Back was General Manager, Marketing & Experience from 1st July 2023 to 18th June 2024. 
(d) Matthew Walton was General Manager, Design & Construction from 1st July 2023 to 15th May 2024. 
 
All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis. 

The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives. 
The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation 
Act 1968 and is reported within the State’s Annual Financial Report. 
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Remuneration of key management personnel 
($ thousand) 

Compensation of KMPs 2024 2023 
Short-term employee benefits  2,726  2,066 
Post-employment benefits  245  211 
Other long-term benefits  43  32 
Termination benefits  126  103 
Total remuneration (a) 3,140 2,412 

Notes: 
(a) Note that KMPs are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of executive officers (Note 7.9.3). 

Significant transactions with government-related entities 
 

AGPC received funding of $128.3 million (2023: $118.69 million) from DJSIR. 
 
AGPC has an arrangement with DTP for the provision of free tram shuttle services from the City to the 
Albert Park Grand Prix Circuit for patrons attending the FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 
2024. DTP received $1.8 million in payment (2023: $1.5 million) directly from DTF for this arrangement 
in 2024. 

Transactions and balances with key management personnel and other related parties 
 

During the financial year, in respect of the FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024 and the 
MotoGP™ Guru by Gryfyn Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix 2023, AGPC entered into the following 
types of transactions with related parties, entities of which Key Management Personnel of AGPC are 
Directors, and entities related to Key Management Personnel including entities under the significant 
influence or control of people directly related to the Key Management Personnel: 
 
Expenditure 
• Victoria Police; 
• Ambulance Service Victoria; 
• Victorian Managed Insurance Authority; 
• Country Fire Authority & Fire Rescue Victoria; and 
• Parks Victoria. 

The total aggregate expenditure was $2.01 million (2023: $1.93 million). 
 

7.9.5 Remuneration of auditors 
($ thousand) 

2024 2023 
Victorian Auditor-General’s Office 
Audit of the financial statements 

 
85 

 
81 

Other non-audit services(a) 

Amount paid or payable for internal audit activities 
 

115 
 

42 
Total remuneration of auditors 200 123 

Notes: 
(a) The Victorian Auditor-General’s Office is prohibited from providing non-audit services. 
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7.9.6 Subsequent events 
 

Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. 

Disclosure is made about events between the reporting date and the date the financial statements 
are authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose after the reporting date 
and are considered to be of material interest. 

On 18 July 2024, Linda Dessau AC CVO was appointed as Deputy Chair of the AGPC Board. On the 
same day, Dr Gillian Sparkes AM was also appointed as a member of the AGPC Board. 

On 6 August 2024, Mark Webber AO was reappointed as a member of the AGPC Board. 
 

On 30 August 2024, the Supreme Court of Victoria found against AGPC in a trial relating to the 
cancellation of the 2020 Formula 1® event. The plaintiff was awarded $2.84m in damages, pending 
final cost orders. 
 
On 9 September 2024, Emma Pinwill commenced as Chief Commercial Officer, a role which sits on 
the AGPC executive team. 

 
Other than the matters outlined above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of signing these financial statements, any other item, transaction or event 
of a material and unusual nature likely to affect significantly the operations of AGPC, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of AGPC, in subsequent financial years. 
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7.9.8 Other accounting policies and disclosures 

Goods and services tax (GST) 

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Income tax 
 

AGPC is exempt from income tax under Section 24AR of Division 1B of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act, 1936. 

 
Other non-financial assets 

 
Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of 
goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term 
extending beyond that period. 

Foreign currency transactions and balances 
 

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the 
exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign monetary items existing at the end of 
the reporting period are translated at the closing rate at the date at the end of the reporting period. 
Non-monetary assets carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Foreign currency translation differences are recognised in ‘other economic flows’ and accumulated 
in the cash flow hedge reserve in the period in which they arise. 

 
Economic dependency 

 
The ongoing activities of AGPC are dependent upon AGPC being able to exercise its rights and 
perform its obligations under the Australian Grands Prix Act 1994 and the continued existence of 
certain contracts with international bodies concerning the staging of the Formula 1® Australian 
Grand Prix at Albert Park and the staging of the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix at Phillip Island. The 
existing contract in respect of the Formula 1® Australian Grand Prix runs until 2037. The contract in 
respect of the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix runs until 2026. 



2024 ANNUAL REPORT 
P|97

AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION80 Australian Grand Prix Corporation Annual Report 2024  

7.9.9 Glossary of technical terms 
 

The following is a summary of the major technical terms used in this report. 

Amortisation is the expense which results from the consumption, extraction or use over time of a non-
produced physical or intangible asset. This expense is classified as an ‘other economic flow’. 

Borrowings refer to interest-bearing liabilities mainly raised from public borrowings raised through the 
Treasury Corporation of Victoria, lease liabilities, service concession arrangements and other interest-
bearing arrangements. Borrowings also include non-interest-bearing advances from government 
that are acquired for policy purposes. 

 
Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-
cancellable contractual or statutory sources. 

Comprehensive result is the change in equity for the period other than changes arising from 
transactions with owners. It is the aggregate of net result and other non-owner changes in equity. 

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced 
physical or intangible asset. This expense is classified as a ‘transaction’ and so reduces the ‘net result 
from transaction’. 

 
Effective interest method is the method used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset and 
of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Ex gratia expenses are the voluntary payments of money or other non-monetary benefit (e.g. a write 
off) that is not made either to acquire goods, services or other benefits for the entity or to meet a 
legal liability, or to settle or resolve a possible legal liability of or claim against the entity. 

 
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, 
leave entitlements, termination payments and superannuation contributions. 

 
Financial asset is any asset that is: 
(a) cash; 
(b) an equity instrument of another entity; 
(c) a contractual right: 
(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own derivative instruments and is: 

i. a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of 
the entity’s own derivative instruments; or 

ii. a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own derivative instruments. 

 
Financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual (such as 
statutory receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed by 
governments) are not financial instruments. 

Financial liability is any liability that is: 

(a) a contractual obligation: 
i. To deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
ii. To exchange financial assets or liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 

potentially unfavorable to the entity; or 
(b) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own derivative instruments and is: 

i. A non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of 
the entity’s own derivative instruments; or 
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ii. a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own derivative instruments. 
For this purpose, the entity’s own derivative instruments do not include instruments that are 
themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’ own derivative 
instruments. 

Financial statements: Depending on the context of the sentence where the term ‘financial 
statements’ is used, it may include only the main financial statements (i.e. comprehensive operating 
statement, balance sheet, cash flow statements and statement of changes in equity); or it may 
also be used to replace the old term ‘financial report’ under the revised AASB 101 (September 2007), 
which means it may include the main financial statements and the notes. 

Grants can either be operating or capital in nature. Grants can be paid as general-purpose grants 
which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may 
be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions 
attached regarding their use. 

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. 
 

Interest expense represents costs incurred in connection with borrowings. It includes interest on 
advances, loans, overdrafts, bonds and bills, deposits, interest components of lease repayments, 
service concession financial liabilities and amortisation of discounts or premiums in relation to 
borrowings. 

Interest income includes interest received on bank term deposits, interest from investments and other 
interest received. 

Leases are rights conveyed in a contract, or part of a contract, the right to use an asset (the 
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from transactions) are purchases (and other acquisitions) 
of non-financial assets less sales (or disposals) of non-financial assets less depreciation plus changes 
in other movements in non-financial assets. Includes only those increases or decreases in non- 
financial assets resulting from transactions and therefore excludes write-offs, impairment write- downs 
and revaluations 

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of 
items of revenue, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those 
that are classified as ‘other non-owner changes in equity’. 

 
Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is revenue from 
transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability 
of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes 
in the volume of assets. It is the component of the change in net worth that is due to transactions 
and can be attributed directly to government policies. 

Net worth is calculated as assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth. 
 

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It includes prepayments, 
infrastructure, equipment and intangible assets. 

Other economic flows included in net result are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability 
that do not result from transactions. In simple terms, other economic flows are changes arising from 
market re-measurements. They include gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments 
of non-current physical and intangible assets as well as fair value changes of financial instruments. 
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Other economic flows – other comprehensive income (OCI) comprises items (including 
reclassification adjustments) that are not recognised in net result as required or permitted by other 
Australian Accounting Standards. They include changes in physical asset revaluation surplus and 
gains and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets. 

 
Payables includes short and long-term trade debt and accounts payable, grants and interest 
payable. 

Receivables includes short and long-term trade credit and accounts receivable, grants, taxes and 
interest receivable. 

 
Sales of goods and services refers to revenue from the direct provision of goods and services and 
includes fees and charges for services rendered, sales of goods and services and fees from regulatory 
services. User charges includes sale of goods and services revenue. 

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, 
including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of AGPC. 

 
Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, 
usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows within 
an entity such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the 
depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded 
as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in 
kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final 
consideration is cash. In simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government. 
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THE AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION PROUDLY 
ACKNOWLEDGES ITS SUPPORTERS AND SUPPLIERS OF THE  

FORMULA 1 ROLEX AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX 2024

For more information about our supporters, visit grandprix.com.au

EVENT SUPPORTERS

TITLE PARTNER

PARTNERS

The Australian Grand Prix Corporation proudly acknowledges the contribution of the following supporters:

COMMUNITY
PARTNERS X

For more information about our supporters, visit grandprix.com.au

EVENT SUPPORTERS

TITLE PARTNER

PARTNERS

The Australian Grand Prix Corporation proudly acknowledges the contribution of the following supporters:

COMMUNITY
PARTNERS X

For more information about our supporters, visit grandprix.com.au

EVENT SUPPORTERS

TITLE PARTNER

PARTNERS

The Australian Grand Prix Corporation proudly acknowledges the contribution of the following supporters:

COMMUNITY
PARTNERS X

TITLE PARTNER

PARTNERS

COMMUNITY PARTNERS

TITLE PARTNER

PARTNERS

CHARITY PARTNERS

MOTOR RACING IS DANGEROUS AND ACCIDENTS CAN HAPPEN.
You are reminded that motor racing, the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix event (as defined in the Australian Grands Prix Act 1994 (Vic) (the Act) to be  
held in 2023 including without limitation all motor racing, support activities and off-track activities (Event) is dangerous and accidents can happen.  
Your entry  to and presence at the Event is subject to Conditions of Sale, Attendance Conditions, Conditions of Entry to the Campgrounds and the Hospitality  
 Conditions (as applicable), available from ticket outlets, from AGPC on 03 9258 7100, posted at motogp.com.au and displayed at all entrances to the Event, the 
Major Events Act 2009 (Vic), the Act and all applicable regulations made under those Acts, as amended from time to time. 

THE AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION PROUDLY ACKNOWLEDGES THE SUPPORT OF:

EVENT PARTNERS
THE AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION ACKNOWLEDGES THE GREAT SUPPORT OF OUR OFFICIAL PARTNERS:

MB23_042_Official_Program_Sponsor_Tree_A4_FA5.indd   1MB23_042_Official_Program_Sponsor_Tree_A4_FA5.indd   1 22/9/2023   10:57 am22/9/2023   10:57 am
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THE AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION PROUDLY 
ACKNOWLEDGES ITS SUPPORTERS AND SUPPLIERS OF THE MotoGP™ 

GURU BY GRYFYN AUSTRALIAN MOTORCYCLE GRAND PRIX 2023

TITLE PARTNER

PARTNERS

COMMUNITY PARTNERS

TITLE PARTNER

PARTNERS

CHARITY PARTNERS

MOTOR RACING IS DANGEROUS AND ACCIDENTS CAN HAPPEN.
You are reminded that motor racing, the Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix event (as defined in the Australian Grands Prix Act 1994 (Vic) (the Act) to be  
held in 2023 including without limitation all motor racing, support activities and off-track activities (Event) is dangerous and accidents can happen.  
Your entry  to and presence at the Event is subject to Conditions of Sale, Attendance Conditions, Conditions of Entry to the Campgrounds and the Hospitality  
 Conditions (as applicable), available from ticket outlets, from AGPC on 03 9258 7100, posted at motogp.com.au and displayed at all entrances to the Event, the 
Major Events Act 2009 (Vic), the Act and all applicable regulations made under those Acts, as amended from time to time. 

THE AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION PROUDLY ACKNOWLEDGES THE SUPPORT OF:

EVENT PARTNERS
THE AUSTRALIAN GRAND PRIX CORPORATION ACKNOWLEDGES THE GREAT SUPPORT OF OUR OFFICIAL PARTNERS:
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